

To all Members of the Council

12 February 2021

You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of Rother District Council to be held remotely on **Monday 22 February 2021** at 6.30 pm when it is proposed to transact the business stated below.

- 1. To approve as a correct record and to authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the Council meeting held on 21 December 2020.
- 2. To receive apologies for absence.
- 3. Disclosure of Interest

To receive any disclosure by Members of personal and disclosable pecuniary interests in matters on the agenda, the nature of any interest and whether the Member regards the personal interest as prejudicial under the terms of the Code of Conduct. Members are reminded of the need to repeat their declaration immediately prior to the commencement of the item in question.

- 4. To receive the Chairman's communications.
- 5. To answer questions from members of the public, if any, in accordance with paragraph 10 of the Council Procedure Rules (*time limit 30 minutes). (Pages 1 2)
- 6. To answer questions from Members of the Council, if any, in accordance with paragraph 11 of the Council Procedure Rules (*time limit 30 minutes).
- 7. To receive the report of the Cabinet on matters for determination by full Council at its meeting held on 8 February 2021 (there were no recommendations to Council made at the meeting held on 11 January 2021), as under: (Pages 3 12)

8 February 2021

- > Draft Revenue Budget 2021-22 (CB20/98) (See Agenda Item 9)
- > Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy (CB20/99)
- > Capital Strategy 2021/22 TO 2025/26 (CB20/100)
- ➤ Development of a Local Lottery to Support Community Funding (CB20/101)
- Town Hall Redevelopment Proposals (CB20/102)
- 8. To receive the report of the Head of Paid Service

in accordance with paragraph 17a of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules and paragraph 4 of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, of any urgent decisions taken at the Cabinet meetings held on 11 January and 8 February 2021.

9. Budget 2021/22 (Pages 13 - 26)

to consider and if thought fit, to pass a resolution in the terms set out in the report. In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 17.5 (b) a recorded vote will be taken on this matter.

10. To receive the report of the Licensing and General Purposes Committee on matters for determination by full Council at its meeting held on 18 January 2021, as under: (Pages 27 - 76)

18

January 2021

Licensing Policy 2021 (LG20/18)

- 11. To receive an update from Stewart Drew, Director and Chief Executive on recent operations at the De La Warr Pavilion during the current lockdown restrictions.
- 12. To consider nominations received for the appointment of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council and, if necessary, to determine those nominations by roll call vote.

(In accordance with normal practice, this process is intended to determine the names to be put forward at the Annual Council Meeting).

Malcolm Johnston

Chief Executive

Town Hall Bexhill-on-Sea East Sussex, TN39 3JX

Agenda Item 5

Rother

COUNCIL MEETING 22 February 2021

PUBLIC QUESTION 1

Name of person submitting the question: Mr Bernard Brown Member to whom the question is to be put: Councillor Jonathan Vine-Hall

Question (answers in BOLD)

The Planning Inspector allowed the appellants appeal on the case of Outline Planning Refusal at Clavering Walk, Bexhill. (RR/2018/3127/ P). What were total the costs, direct and indirect, to the Council of the Appeal? What was the value of the New Homes Bonus forfeited as a result of the lost Appeal?

The total costs direct and indirect were £73,387 appeal costs

New Homes Bonus approx. £500,000 (depending on the number of units approved at reserved matters)

The Appeal by Sea Change Sussex and Westcott Leach the Buckholt Lane Application has now been held but at the time of asking this question the decision has not been announced. What estimates and/or provisions have been made for costs to the Council for:

For the record this appeal has yet to be determined.

1. Worst case scenario: Lost appeal and costs awarded: What is the estimate of appellants and Council's costs to be met by the Council?

A total of £35,500 estimated costs to the Council for defending the Councils case broken down as follows:

Barrister - £3,500 (hearing only)
Landscape Officer - £7,000 (statement preparation and hearing)
Ecology Officer - £7,000 (as above)
Design Officer - £9,000 (as above)
Planning Officer - £9,000 (as above)

Whilst the appellant has submitted a costs claim (in principle) as part of the appeal (which was vigorously opposed by the Council at the hearing) the appeal has yet to be determined. Therefore the costs claim also remains yet to be determined and the amount will only be disclosed to the Council by the appellant if the costs claim is successful.

2. Second level scenario: Whatever the result, the Council's own costs having to be met by Council: What is the estimate of the costs to be met?"

As above £35,500.



Rother District Council

Report to - Council

Date - 22 February 2021

Report of the - Cabinet

Subject - References from Cabinet Meetings

The Council is asked to consider recommendations arising from the Cabinet meeting held on 8 February, as set out below and to note that there were no recommendations to Council arising from the Cabinet meeting held on 11 January 2021.

CABINET - 8 February 2021

CB20/98. DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 2021-22

Members gave consideration to the Finance Manager's comprehensive report and appendices on the draft Revenue Budget proposals for 2021/22. The budget proposals had been scrutinised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) on 25 January 2021 and a copy of the Minutes arising from the OSC meeting had been appended to the report for Cabinet's consideration. It was noted that the budget had been prepared ahead of the finalisation of the Council's new Corporate Plan and it was likely that the Council's finances, staffing and physical resources may need to be redirected into new priorities and services over the coming months. Appendix A to the report summarised the draft Revenue Budget; Appendix B the detailed budgets over the various services the Council provided, Appendix C detailed the proposed Special Expenses for 2021/22, Appendix D the Earmarked Reserves, Appendix E the Minutes from the OSC meeting held on 25 January 2021 and Appendix F the Budget consultation report.

Members were reminded that the Council no longer received any Revenue Support Grant from the Government and would be wholly reliant on revenue from business rates, council tax, charges for services, income generation and specific grants for discreet services. Whilst at the time of writing the settlement was still draft, it was not anticipated that it would change when it was finalised.

The draft settlement did however confirm a specific additional COVID-19 grant of £519,000 to support the ongoing effects of the pandemic in 2021/22. The announcement also included grant to extend the help for residents through the Council Tax Reduction Support scheme (CTRS). Based on the provisional numbers, this was approximately £146,000 for Rother, £1.46m in total including preceptors. This funding only effected the Collection Fund and did not meet the loss of income due to the increase in the number of households claiming CTRS.

Other Government grants included £271,770 New Homes Bonus which was higher than the previous forecast. This had been incorporated into the draft budget to reduce the use of reserves as previously agreed by

Members, however, as this was a one-year grant, no ongoing reliance of this income could be assumed, pending the outcome of the review of this grant.

The Council Tax Referendum principles that applied to the Council for 2021/22 allowed an increase of up to 2% or £5 whichever was the greater. To ensure the Council remained within this limit (after taking account of the increase in Special Expenses), the budget assumed an increase of £4.61 (2.5%) to £188.71 at Council Tax Band D for 2021/22. This brought a total Council Tax income for the Council of £7.1m.

The Council remained in the East Sussex 50% Business Rate pooling arrangement for 20201/22. An assessment had been undertaken of the risk due to the financial impact of the pandemic on the local economy and on balance it was expected that it would still benefit the County as a whole to remain pooled.

The Council's Capital Programme totalled some £187m with £80m currently without secured funding. A significant part of the programme related to the Council's approved Property Investment Strategy. To date, £14.8m had been expended or committed on seven properties/sites. Income secured to date was in excess of £911,000 per annum with a further £846,00 expected once developments at Beeching Road and Barnhorn Green were delivered.

The draft Capital Programme also sought to reduce the use of Revenue (including Revenue Reserves) to fund capital expenditure. For 2021/22 some £619,000 of reserves was planned to be used, which was higher than previously forecast due to slippage in the 2020/21 Capital Programme and did not represent an overall increase in the use of reserves.

The net Revenue Budget before Government grants and other funding was expected to be £16.374m. This included revenue support for the capital programme of £619,000 which was funded from reserves. The underlying revenue spend was therefore £15.755m. The draft Revenue Budget included inflation and necessary growth. In preparing the draft Revenue Budget a number of financial issues were still uncertain, as follows:

- Other savings/income— the draft budget included a target to deliver an additional £632,000 of income and savings over that already achieved.
- Managing homelessness homelessness continued to be a considerable social and financial challenge for the Council.
- ➤ Delivering efficiencies the realisation of savings identified through the work of the Financial Stability Programme (see below) was essential. It was likely that to release savings would require investment in technology and ultimately may enable a reduction in the workforce.

Currently for the Council Tax part of the Collection Fund, a deficit was predicted for 2020/21 with the Council's share estimated to be £81,000. As a result of the Government extending the amount of business rate

relief during 2020/21 there was an £11.5m deficit predicted for Business Rates in 2020/21. However, after taking account of the additional compensating grant funding received from the Government, the Council's share was estimated to be £322,000. As these losses were greatly affected by the pandemic, the Government had also allowed Councils to spread the impact over three years. For Council Tax, this equated to a Rother share of £27,000 per annum and for Business Rates this was £107,000 per annum.

The draft Revenue Budget for 2021/22 utilised a total of £3.3m of earmarked reserves (net of contributions to reserves) to meet specific costs including supporting the Capital Programme. Some £2.7m of this was estimated to be used to balance the overall Revenue Budget. Details of the use and contributions to reserves were set out in Appendix D, as amended, to the report.

The Council's budget and council tax consultation with residents and businesses closed on the 18 January 2021. There was a total of 343 responses, of which 333 were from residents. A summary of the results was shown at Appendix F. The full detail and analysis of the consultation would be available to Members separately.

The five year financial forecast to 31 March 2026 included a number of assumptions, the main one being the future delivery of recurring savings of £632,000 in 2021/22 rising to around £2.2m per annum from 2024/25. For the purposes of the forecast, the taxbase had also been projected to increase over the period by 2% per annum. This may have been optimistic and the actual change largely depended on the delivery of new developments in the north of Bexhill. This would continue to be monitored closely and the financial forecasts updated as necessary. The forecast did, however, assume that the New Homes Bonus would be phased out by 2022/23. In addition, the forecast assumed an annual 2% increase in Council Tax each year from 2022/23. Clearly this would be affected by local and central government policy and therefore may not have been achievable.

Assuming the Council was able to deliver the identified savings, the forecast showed that over the five years nearly £7.4m of reserves would be used including £1.5m to support the Capital Programme. However, if delivery of income and savings was achieved in line with the forecast (both timing and amount), by 2024/25 it would be possible to make small contributions to reserves. If further savings or income could be achieved over the period, then this would reduce the call on reserves. It was proposed that the Council's Medium Term Financial Strategy be updated to reflect the latest financial forecast.

To ensure organisational focus was maintained on the delivery of extra income and cost savings, a financial stability programme was being finalised. This replaced the previous Rother 2020 Programme and would be supported by a small board of Members and officers to consider proposals, oversee progress and to manage any hurdles to achieving the Corporate Plan objective of financial stability for the Council by March 2026 financial year. The programme board would report progress regularly to Cabinet.

The draft Revenue Budget had been balanced for 2021/22. To achieve this, the Council had set itself ambitious but achievable savings and additional income targets. However, in addition, £2.7m of reserves were expected to be needed to achieve a balanced budget. Without action, the financial forecast showed reserves would be under considerable pressure and may fall below acceptable levels over the next five years. This also increased the Council's vulnerability to being able to cope with unexpected costs that arose.

RECOMMENDED: That:

- 1) the level of Special Expenses as set out in Appendix C to the report be approved;
- 2) the net expenditure of £16,374,225 for 2021/22 be approved;
- 3) the amount of reserves set out in Appendix D to the report be approved, and;
- 4) the Council Tax for 2021/22 at Band D be increased by £4.61 (2.5%) and set at £188.71.

(Councillors Byrne, Drayson and Timpe declared a Personal Interest in this matter in so far as they were committee members of Light Up Bexhill and in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct remained in the meeting during the consideration thereof).

(Councillor Drayson declared a Personal Interest in this matter in so far as he was a member of the Police and Crime Panel responsible for setting the Police council tax precept, and in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct remained in the meeting during the consideration thereof).

(Cabinet Agenda Item 6)

CB20/99. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY

The Treasury Management Statement set out the Council's treasury issues and looked to ensure that the Council met its spending obligations. The Council was required to receive and approve a minimum of three main reports each year to include:

- 1) Prudential and Treasury Indicators and the Treasury Strategy;
- 2) a Mid-Year Treasury Management Report; and
- 3) an Annual Treasury Report.

These reports incorporated a number of policies, estimates and actuals which were scrutinised by the Audit and Standards Committee prior to making recommendations to Council.

The Treasury Management Strategy detailed the Council's capital issues and reviewed the position regarding investments, borrowing strategy, economic outlook and policies on the creditworthiness of counterparties.

The Annual Investment Strategy detailed the Council's investment priorities, promoting security, liquidity and investment return. In order to minimise risks, the Council stipulated the minimum acceptable credit quality of counterparties for inclusion on the lending list.

The 2021/22 draft Revenue Budget presumed an income of £326,000 from treasury activities, which assumed a return of 0.018% from deposit type investments and 4.08% return from property fund investments. The forecast for the next five years continued to see low returns, based on the forecast use of cash reserves to support the Revenue Budget. The expectation was that 2021/22 would remain a very difficult investment environment, however the strategies proposed in the report, together with the interest rates forecast, were in line with the assumptions made when preparing the 2021/22 Revenue Budget. The costs of treasury operations were contained within the 2021/22 draft Revenue Budget.

RECOMMENDED: That:

- 1) the Treasury Management Strategy as set out at Appendix A to the report be approved and adopted;
- 2) the Annual Investment Strategy as set out at Appendix B to the report be approved and adopted;
- 3) the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2021/22 be approved;
- 4) the Prudential and Treasury Indicators as set out in Appendix A to the report be approved; and
- 5) authorised limits in this report be approved.

(Cabinet Agenda Item 7)

CB20/100. CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021/22 TO 2025/26

In accordance with the CIPFA 2017 codes for Prudential and Treasury Management, the Council was now required to have a Capital Strategy. The draft Capital Strategy was attached at Appendix A to the report and gave a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activities contributed to the provision of local public services, along with an overview of how associated risk was managed and the implications for future financial sustainability. The Strategy was intended to be a longer term view of investment and go beyond the detailed five year Capital Programme. However, it was recognised that the strategy was likely to change in the near future to reflect the Corporate Plan which was currently out to consultation.

From the 26 November 2020, the Government confirmed the introduction of new lending criteria from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) designed to prevent councils accessing low cost finance for investments made purely for financial return. This was a prospective change and did not affect any previous investment made by the Council

Page 7

prior to this date. A preliminary review of the draft Capital Programme indicated that all loan funded projects remained eligible for PWLB support, but further work was being undertaken to ensure this was the case.

The Council's Capital Programme at Appendix B to the report totalled some £186.7m, although £80.0m was currently unfunded and showed the investment in approved schemes over the next five years. A significant part of the programme related to the Council's approved Property Investment Strategy (PIS) and capital support to the Council's company Alliance Homes (Rother) Ltd. Income of approximately £1m was included within 2021/22 the Revenue Budget for PIS assets that have been acquired.

The draft Capital Programme continued to minimise the use of Revenue (including Revenue Reserves) to fund capital expenditure. For 2021/22, some £0.619m was planned to be used, but this reduced thereafter. Largely this would be replaced by low cost borrowing where appropriate which, whilst having a revenue impact, was spread over a longer time period.

The Programme was broadly the same as that reported in November 2020, save for the re-phasing of expenditure in line with the latest information. The Programme now included the cost of improvements being made to Sidley Recreation Ground, which were being funded externally in addition to the Council's own contribution to the scheme.

The draft Capital Programme showed that, despite the continued impact of the pandemic and Government austerity measures, the Council aimed to make a significant commitment to invest in the district to improve it economically and socially, to ensure it remained an outstanding place to work and live in.

RECOMMENDED: That:

- 1) the Draft Capital Strategy 2021/22 to 2025/26 be approved and adopted, as submitted; and
- 2) the updated Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2025/26 at Appendix B to the report be approved.

(Councillor Bayliss declared a Personal Interest in this matter in so far as she was a convener for the Skate Park Action Group and in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct remained in the meeting during the consideration thereof).

(Cabinet Agenda Item 8)

CB20/101. **DEVELOPMENT OF A LOCAL LOTTERY TO SUPPORT COMMUNITY FUNDING**

Members received the report of the Head of Acquisitions, Transformation and Regeneration detailing how the establishment of a local lottery could support community projects in the district, on the principle of raising

Page 8

money within the community for the community. A lottery could be an alternative income stream for the Voluntary and Community Sector by directly benefitting from a percentage of lottery ticket sales when their cause was selected by lottery players, whilst at the same time supporting the Community Grant Scheme budget at a time of financial challenges. Members gave consideration to two options for the delivery of a lottery scheme: establish an in-house lottery at an estimated set-up cost to the Council of £80 - £100k, with the financial risk if the lottery were not successful to be borne by the Council; or appoint an External Lottery Manager (ELM) at a set-up cost of approximately £10k, with the financial risk passed to the provider. The preferred option was to use an ELM, as this mitigated the Council's financial risk.

The expected set up cost of £10,000 would include, but not limited to, the appointment of an ELM, Gambling Commission Licence fee, Lotteries Council Membership and marketing costs. On-going costs could be expected to be approximately £1,200 per annum, plus an element for marketing. There was no annual cost for the ELM as this would be covered by the administration element on ticket sales. It was expected that most of the officer time would be upfront in the set-up of the lottery.

Dependant on the model once set up, the primary role of the Council would be to complete monitoring, codes of practice and social responsibility requirements by the Gambling Commission, authorisation of payments and acceptance of new community and voluntary groups to the scheme, and marketing and promotion of the scheme. From research, the officer time commitment estimation was one day a month.

An analysis to assess the position for implementing a Rother Community Lottery was available at Appendix A to the report.

RECOMMENDED: That:

1) a Rother Community Lottery be established;

Cabinet also **RESOLVED**: That:

- 1) the income generated from the Rother Community Lottery central fund be apportioned to the Rother Community Grants Scheme; and
- 2) the Head of Acquisitions, Transformation and Regeneration be granted delegated authority to:
 - a. procure and appoint an External Lottery Manager to run the dayto-day operations of the lottery; and
 - b. develop and complete the works as set out in this report as necessary for the completion of establishing a Rother Community Lottery.

(Cabinet Agenda Item 9)

CB20/102. TOWN HALL REDEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS

In February 2019, Cabinet approved a budget of £250,000 for the development of housing projects on Council-owned sites. The land to the rear of the Town Hall was identified as one of those sites to be explored. Following the change in administration in May 2019, it was made clear to officers that options for the future of the Town Hall were also to be considered. Subsequent discussions with the Leader had reinforced that position and therefore investigations into the rear of the site had incorporated the Town Hall and ancillary buildings.

The existing Town Hall was clearly an asset of historical significance for Bexhill and therefore all scenarios explored sought to retain and refurbish the core elements of the existing property. It was clear that the carbon performance of the existing buildings was very poor and needed to be a consideration for any works that were sought to be undertaken. In addition, the current building did not offer the attractive modern working environment expected by many employees.

A full options analysis had been undertaken, attached at Appendix B to the report. Option 4, 'Whole Site Development', presented the opportunity for works to be cost neutral in the longer-term, would regenerate a central area of Bexhill, and would provide Rother District Council (RDC) and other public sector organisations a fit for purpose, modern working environment into the future. East Sussex County Council (ESCC) was also consulting on plans that could be transformational for the Town Hall Square; the two schemes would be complementary and therefore the proposals made would incorporate the ESCC work.

A design team had been appointed to undertake a high-level concept feasibility options study for the whole site development, with an initial view to delivering housing on the site. The feasibility study showed that, with the right mix of housing and commercial space, it was possible to deliver a scheme that would be revenue neutral, in that the income earned through rent and capital receipts could offset the cost of borrowing for the scheme.

A staff survey had been carried out to understand how officers were likely to wish to work in the future given the precedent that had been set by the organisation's response to flexible and home working during the COVID-19 pandemic. The results of this survey showed that, whilst the staff had adapted well to home working, most would anticipate still working in an office environment between one and three days a week 'Post COVID'. Based on this, it was estimated that RDC would have an ongoing space requirement to accommodate 120 full time equivalents. Discussions had also been had with a number of other public sector bodies who potentially required workspace for staff.

Next steps would be to appoint the relevant architects, engineers, consultants, surveyors and other professionals to work up detailed proposals and achieve planning permission on the site. Consultations with staff would continue throughout the process.

Members raised some concerns about agreeing to grant delegated authority to the Head of Services Acquisitions, Transformation and Regeneration to procure the services required, and enter into contracts as necessary, for the completion of detailed designs before the budget had been agreed by full Council. Therefore it was recommended and agreed to insert the words 'subject to Council approval of the budget...' to the resolution.

RECOMMENDED: That the scheme be included on to the Council's Capital Programme and a budget of £460,000 be agreed to progress detailed designs for the future of the Town Hall, Bexhill site;

Cabinet also **RESOLVED**: That subject to Council approval of the budget, the Head of Acquisitions, Transformation and Regeneration be granted delegated authority to procure the services required, and enter into contracts as necessary, for the completion of detailed designs.

(Councillor Prochak declared a Personal Interest in this matter in so far as she was Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee and in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct left the meeting during the consideration thereof).

(Councillor Timpe declared a Personal Interest in this matter in so far as she was a member of the Planning Committee and in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct left the meeting during the consideration thereof).

(Councillor Vine-Hall declared a Personal Interest in this matter in so far as he was Chairman of the Planning Committee and in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct left the meeting during the consideration thereof).

(Cabinet Agenda Item 11)

Councillor D.B. Oliver Leader of the Council



Rother District Council

Report to - Council

Date - 22 February 2021

Report of the - Chief Executive

Subject - Budget 2021/22

Recommendation: It be **RESOLVED:** That the formal Council Tax Resolution at Appendix A be approved.

Introduction

- 1. The Localism Act 2011 requires the billing authority to calculate a Council Tax requirement for the year, not its budget requirement as previously.
- 2. The precept levels of other precepting bodies have all now been received. These are detailed below:

Town and Parish Councils

3. The Town and Parish Council Precepts (including Special Expenses for Bexhill and Rye) for 2021/22 are detailed in Appendix B and total £2,840,013 (2020/21 £2,460,703). The increase results in an average Band D Council Tax figure of £69.52 for 2021/22.

East Sussex County Council

4. East Sussex County Council met on 9 February 2021 and set their precept at £58,066,249 (2020/21 £56,882,666) for the area of Rother. This results in a Band D Council Tax of £1,544.04 (2020/21 £1,492.02). This includes the Adult Social Care Precept of £151.92 at Band D in Council Tax.

Sussex Police and Crime Commissioner

5. Sussex Police and Crime Commissioner met on 8 February 2021 and set their precept at £8,082,034.41 (2020/21 £7,621,488.79) for the area of Rother. This results in a Band D Council Tax of £214.91 (2020/21 £199.91).

East Sussex Fire Authority

6. East Sussex Fire Authority met on 11 February 2021 and set their precept at £3,664.011 (2020/21 £3,642,043) for the area of Rother. This results in a Band D Council Tax of (2020/21 £95.53).

Excessive Council Tax increases

7. The Localism Act 2011 introduced a requirement for a local authority to determine whether its basic amount of Council Tax for a financial year is excessive, in which case a local referendum would be needed. Schedule 5 of the Localism Act 2011 has inserted a new chapter 4ZA into part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. Section 52ZB sets out the steps needed to determine the level of tax which would be 'excessive'. These steps are in effect

to compare the level of increase in Council Tax with principles set out by the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State has indicated that, for 2021/22, an increase up to 2% or more than £5 and above in a District Council's Council Tax would be excessive. This includes the impact of changes in charges from levying bodies, in Rother's case the Internal Drainage Boards.

8. Cabinet have recommended Rother District Council's basic amount of tax for 2021/22 to be increased to £188.71 (£4.61 or 2.5%); within the Secretary of State's guidelines and is therefore not excessive.

Budget Consultation

9. The Council budget and council tax consultation with residents and businesses closed on the 18 January 2021. There was a total of 343 responses, of which 333 were from residents. A summary of the results is shown at Appendix C. The full detail and analysis of the consultation will be available to Members separately.

Conclusions

10. The recommendations of the Cabinet are set out in the formal Council Tax Resolution in Appendix A. If the formal Council Tax Resolution at Appendix A is approved, the total Band D Council Tax will be as follows:

	2020/21	2021/22	Increase
	£	£	%
Rother District Council	184.10	188.71	2.5%
East Sussex County Council	1362.42	1392.12	
East Sussex County Council – social care precept	129.60	151.92	
Total East Sussex County Council	1,492.02	1,544.04	3.5%
East Sussex Fire Authority	95.53	97.43	2.0%
Sussex Police Authority	199.91	214.91	7.5%
Sub-total	1,971.56	2,045.09	3.7%
Town and Parish Council (average)	64.54	69.52	7.7%
TOTAL	2,036.10	2,114.61	3.9%

Malcolm Johnston Chief Executive

Budget 2021/22

DRAFT RESOLUTION

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass a resolution in the following terms: -

- 1. (a) That Council approves the Rother District Council General Fund Council Tax Requirement of £7,096,741 for 2021/22 and the resultant Band D tax of £188.71 as set out in this report.
 - (b) The expenses incurred by the Council, set out in the minutes of the Cabinet of 8 February 2021 in the sum of £624,080 in respect of Bexhill and £62,680 in respect of Rye, be approved as the Special Expenses chargeable to residents of Bexhill and Rye respectively. All other expenses incurred by the Council (excluding Parish Precepts) be approved as general expenditure for the purposes of section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. (This resolution will be reviewed annually).
- 2. That it be noted, the following amounts for the year 2021/22 in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 1992, made under section 33 (5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992:-
 - (a) 37,606.6 being the amount calculated by the Council in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012, as its Council Tax base for the year.

(b)

Ashburnham &					
Penhurst	189.60	Etchingham	411.00	Rye Foreign	187.90
				Salehurst &	
Battle	2,657.50	Ewhurst	544.30	Robertsbridge	1,024.90
Beckley	546.00	Fairlight	889.80	Sedlescombe	665.50
Bexhill	16,456.20	Guestling	635.10	Ticehurst	1,646.70
		Hurst			
Bodiam	157.60	Green	578.50	Udimore	182.30
Brede	848.90	Icklesham	1,211.40	Westfield	1,104.80
Brightling	201.10	Iden	229.90	Whatlington	156.40
Burwash	1,246.40	Mountfield	197.60		
Camber	656.30	Northiam	1,045.60		
Catsfield	353.60	Peasmarsh	502.10		
Crowhurst	363.00	Pett	467.60		
Dallington	173.70	Playden	159.00		
East Guldeford	31.50	Rye	1,884.80		

being the amounts calculated by the Council in accordance with Regulation 6 of the Regulations, as the amounts of its Council Tax base for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items relate.

That the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 2021/22 in accordance with sections 32 to 38 of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 as amended: -Being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in section 32(2)(a) to (e) of the Act. (this amount is the Council's gross expenditure including £46,461,346 a. the Parish Council Precepts and the Special Expenses for Bexhill and Rye). Being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council b. estimates for the items set out in section 32(3)(a) to (c) of the -£36,521,881 Act. Being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the £9,939,465 C. Council, in accordance with section 32(4) of the Act, as its council tax requirement for the year. being the amount at 3(c) divided by the amount at 2 above (Item d. £264.30 T), calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 33(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its council tax for the year. Being the aggregate amount of all special items referred to in £2,842,813 e. section 35(1) of the Act Being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 3(e) above by the amount at 2(a) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 34(2) of £188.71 f. the Act, as the basic amount of its council tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no special item relates.

3.

PARISH COUNCIL AREA	BAND D
Ashburnham & Penhurst	255.20
Battle	327.50
Beckley	230.83
Bexhill	249.47
Bodiam	255.65
Brede	232.50
Brightling	226.03
Burwash	259.44
Camber	290.57
Catsfield	262.24
Crowhurst	266.48
Dallington	237.27
East Guldeford	188.71
Etchingham	373.62
Ewhurst	317.56
Fairlight	259.51
Guestling	202.09
Hurst Green	263.79
Icklesham	282.63
Iden	258.31
Mountfield	255.01
Northiam	279.57
Peasmarsh	262.40
Pett	237.90
Playden	220.16
Rye	314.29
Rye Foreign	199.35
Salehurst	284.69
Sedlescombe Tipeburgt	274.64
Ticehurst	278.57
Udimore Westfield	227.11
	229.75 234.11
Whatlington	234.11

being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 3(f) above the amounts of the special item or items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned above divided in each case by the amount at 2(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items relate.

h.

Valuation Bands

LOCAL TAX AREA	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	н
/ ((/ / 	£	£	£	£	£	£	£	£
Ashburnham								
& Penhurst	170.14	198.48	226.84	255.20	311.92	368.62	425.34	510.40
Battle	218.34	254.72	291.11	327.50	400.28	473.05	545.84	655.00
Beckley	153.89	179.53	205.18	230.83	282.13	333.42	384.72	461.66
Bexhill	166.32	194.03	221.75	249.47	304.91	360.34	415.79	498.94
Bodiam	170.44	198.83	227.24	255.65	312.47	369.27	426.09	511.30
Brede	155.00	180.83	206.66	232.50	284.17	335.83	387.50	465.00
Brightling	150.69	175.80	200.91	226.03	276.26	326.49	376.72	452.06
Burwash	172.96	201.78	230.61	259.44	317.10	374.75	432.40	518.88
Camber	193.72	225.99	258.28	290.57	355.15	419.71	484.29	581.14
Catsfield	174.83	203.96	233.10	262.24	320.52	378.79	437.07	524.48
Crowhurst	177.66	207.26	236.87	266.48	325.70	384.91	444.14	532.96
Dallington	158.18	184.54	210.90	237.27	290.00	342.72	395.45	474.54
East								
Guldeford	125.81	146.77	167.74	188.71	230.65	272.58	314.52	377.42
Etchingham	249.08	290.59	332.10	373.62	456.65	539.67	622.70	747.24
Ewhurst	211.71	246.99	282.27	317.56	388.13	458.70	529.27	635.12
Fairlight	173.01	201.84	230.67	259.51	317.18	374.85	432.52	519.02
Guestling	134.73	157.18	179.63	202.09	247.00	291.91	336.82	404.18
Hurst Green	175.86	205.17	234.48	263.79	322.41	381.03	439.65	527.58
Icklesham	188.42	219.82	251.22	282.63	345.44	408.24	471.05	565.26
lden	172.21	200.90	229.61	258.31	315.72	373.11	430.52	516.62
Mountfield	170.01	198.34	226.67	255.01	311.68	368.35	425.02	510.02
Northiam	186.38	217.44	248.50	279.57	341.70	403.82	465.95	559.14
Peasmarsh	174.94	204.08	233.24	262.40	320.72	379.02	437.34	524.80
Pett	158.60	185.03	211.46	237.90	290.77	343.63	396.50	475.80
Playden	146.78	171.23	195.70	220.16	269.09	318.01	366.94	440.32
Rye	209.53	244.44	279.37	314.29	384.14	453.98	523.82	628.58
Rye Foreign	132.90	155.05	177.20	199.35	243.65	287.95	332.25	398.70
Salehurst	189.80	221.42	253.06	284.69	347.96	411.22	474.49	569.38
Sedlescombe	183.10	213.60	244.12	274.64	335.68	396.70	457.74	549.28
Ticehurst	185.72	216.66	247.62	278.57	340.48	402.38	464.29	557.14
Udimore	151.41	176.64	201.87	227.11	277.58	328.05	378.52	454.22
Westfield	153.17	178.69	204.22	229.75	280.81	331.86	382.92	459.50
Whatlington	156.08	182.08	208.10	234.11	286.14	338.16	390.19	468.22

being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 3(g) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in Valuation Band "D", calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different Valuation Bands.

4. That the Council notes that for the year 2021/22 East Sussex County Council the Sussex Police and Crime Commissioner and the East Sussex Fire Authority have stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of dwellings shown below: -

	Valuation Bands										
Precepting Authority	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	н			
	£	£	£	£	£	£	£	£			
ESCC	1,029.36	1,200.92	1,372.48	1,544.04	1,887.16	2,230.28	2,573.40	3,088.08			
ESCC Council Tax	928.08	1,082.76	1,237.44	1,392.12	1,701.48	2,010.84	2,320.20	2,784.24			
ESCC Social Care Precept	101.28	118.16	135.04	151.92	185.68	219.44	253.20	303.84			
SPCC	143.27	167.15	191.03	214.91	262.67	310.43	358.18	429.82			
ES Fire	64.95	75.78	86.60	97.43	119.08	140.73	162.38	194.86			

5. That, having calculated the aggregate each case of the amounts at 3(h) and 4 above, the Council, in accordance with section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2020/21 for each of the categories of dwellings shown below: -

Valuation Bands

			٧a	idation ban	us			
LOCAL TAX	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	
<u>AREA</u>	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
Λ a la la la a	£	£	£	£	£	£	£	£
Ashburnham & Penhurst	1,407.72	1,642.33	1,876.95	2 111 50	2,580.83	2 050 06	2 510 20	4,223.16
& Permuisi	1,407.72	1,042.33	1,076.95	2,111.58	2,300.03	3,050.06	3,519.30	4,223.10
Battle	1,455.92	1,698.57	1,941.22	2,183.88	2,669.19	3,154.49	3,639.80	4,367.76
Beckley	1,391.47	1,623.38	1,855.29	2,103.00	2,551.04	3,014.86	3,478.68	4,174.42
Bexhill	1,403.90	1,637.88	1,871.86	2,105.85	2,573.82	3,041.78	3,509.75	4,211.70
Bodiam	1,408.02	1,642.68	1,877.35	2,112.03	2,581.38	3,050.71	3,520.05	4,224.06
Brede	1,392.58	1,624.68	1,856.77	2,088.88	2,553.08	3,030.71	3,481.46	4,177.76
Brightling	1,388.27	1,619.65	1,851.02	2,082.41	2,545.17	3,007.93	3,470.68	4,164.82
Burwash	1,410.54	1,645.63	1,880.72	2,115.82	2,586.01	3,056.19	3,526.36	4,231.64
Camber	1,431.30	1,669.84	1,908.39	2,146.95	2,624.06	3,101.15	3,578.25	4,293.90
Catsfield	1,412.41	1,647.81	1,883.21	2,118.62	2,589.43	3,060.23	3,531.03	4,237.24
Crowhurst	1,415.24	1,651.11	1,886.98	2,122.86	2,594.61	3,066.35	3,538.10	4,245.72
Dallington	1,395.76	1,628.39	1,861.01	2,093.65	2,558.91	3,024.16	3,489.41	4,187.30
East	.,	.,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	_,	_,	-,	0,100111	.,
Guldeford	1,363.39	1,590.62	1,817.85	2,045.09	2,499.56	2,954.02	3,408.48	4,090.18
Etchingham	1,486.66	1,734.44	1,982.21	2,230.00	2,725.56	3,221.11	3,716.66	4,460.00
Ewhurst	1,449.29	1,690.84	1,932.38	2,173.94	2,657.04	3,140.14	3,623.23	4,347.88
Fairlight	1,410.59	1,645.69	1,880.78	2,115.89	2,586.09	3,056.29	3,526.48	4,231.78
Guestling	1,372.31	1,601.03	1,829.74	2,058.47	2,515.91	2,973.35	3,430.78	4,116.94
Hurst Green	1,413.44	1,649.02	1,884.59	2,120.17	2,591.32	3,062.47	3,533.61	4,240.34
Icklesham	1,426.00	1,663.67	1,901.33	2,139.01	2,614.35	3,089.68	3,565.01	4,278.02
lden	1,409.79	1,644.75	1,879.72	2,114.69	2,584.63	3,054.55	3,524.48	4,229.38
Mountfield	1,407.59	1,642.19	1,876.78	2,111.39	2,580.59	3,049.79	3,518.98	4,222.78
Northiam	1,423.96	1,661.29	1,898.61	2,135.95	2,610.61	3,085.26	3,559.91	4,271.90
Peasmarsh	1,412.52	1,647.93	1,883.35	2,118.78	2,589.63	3,060.46	3,531.30	4,237.56
Pett	1,396.18	1,628.88	1,861.57	2,094.28	2,559.68	3,025.07	3,490.46	4,188.56
Playden	1,384.36	1,615.08	1,845.81	2,076.54	2,538.00	2,999.45	3,460.90	4,153.08
Rye	1,447.11	1,688.29	1,929.48	2,170.67	2,653.05	3,135.42	3,617.78	4,341.34
Rye Foreign	1,370.48	1,598.90	1,827.31	2,055.73	2,512.56	2,969.39	3,426.21	4,111.46
Salehurst	1,427.38	1,665.27	1,903.17	2,141.07	2,616.87	3,092.66	3,568.45	4,282.14
Sedlescombe	1,420.68	1,657.45	1,894.23	2,131.02	2,604.59	3,078.14	3,551.70	4,262.04
Ticehurst	1,423.30	1,660.51	1,897.73	2,134.95	2,609.39	3,083.82	3,558.25	4,269.90
Udimore	1,388.99	1,620.49	1,851.98	2,083.49	2,546.49	3,009.49	3,472.48	4,166.98
Westfield	1,390.75	1,622.54	1,854.33	2,086.13	2,549.72	3,013.30	3,476.88	4,172.26
Whatlington	1,393.66	1,625.93	1,858.21	2,090.49	2,555.05	3,019.60	3,484.15	4,180.98

6. The Assistant Director Resources as Section 151 Officer be authorised to authenticate and serve all notices etc. required in connection with the Council Tax and National Non Domestic Rate.

Assessment as to whether change in Council Tax is excessive

7. That the Council's relevant basic amount of Council Tax for 2021/22 is not excessive in accordance with the principles approved under section 52B(3) of the Local Government Act 1992.

	2021/22				2020/21		
	LOCAL	divided by LOCAL TAX	gives LOCAL BAND D COUNCIL	LOCAL	divided by LOCAL TAX	gives LOCAL BAND D COUNCIL	COUNCIL TAX
LOCAL TAX AREA	PRECEPT	BASE	TAX	PRECEPT	BASE	TAX	INCREASE
	£	no.	£	£	no.	£	£
Ashburnham & Penhurst	12,607.00	189.60	66.49	12,607.00	192.20	65.59	1.37%
Battle	368,830.00	2,657.50	138.79	374,644.00	2,699.30	138.79	0.00%
Beckley	23,000.00	546.00	42.12	23,000.00	554.90	41.45	1.62%
Bexhill (note 1)	999,865.00	16,456.20	60.76	637,730.00	16,701.70	38.19	59.10%
Bodiam	10,550.00	157.60	66.94	10,300.00	159.00	64.78	3.33%
Brede	37,175.00	848.90	43.79	37,830.00	859.60	44.01	-0.50%
Brightling	7,506.00	201.10	37.32	7,454.00	201.00	37.08	0.65%
Burwash	88,160.10	1,246.40	70.73	83,962.00	1,260.40	66.62	6.17%
Camber	66,849.00	656.30	101.86	69,635.00	679.90	102.42	-0.55%
Catsfield	26,000.00	353.60	73.53	22,433.00	355.10	63.17	16.40%
Crowhurst	28,231.00	363.00	77.77	28,338.00	368.00	77.01	0.99%
Dallington	8,435.00	173.70	48.56	8,435.00	174.30	48.39	0.35%
East Guldeford	0.00	31.50	0.00	0.00	32.80	0.00	0.00%
Etchingham	76,000.00	411.00	184.91	55,000.00	422.10	130.30	41.91%
Ewhurst	70,134.00	544.30	128.85	68,423.00	540.10	126.69	1.70%
Fairlight	63,000.00	889.80	70.80	63,000.00	891.00	70.71	0.13%
Guestling	8,500.00	635.10	13.38	8,095.80	636.20	12.73	5.11%
Hurst Green	43,435.00	578.50	75.08	46,350.00	589.20	78.67	-4.56%
Icklesham	113,775.00	1,211.40	93.92	113,474.00	1,228.90	92.34	1.71%
Iden	16,000.00	229.90	69.60	16,000.00	238.60	67.06	3.79%
Mountfield	13,100.00	197.60	66.30	13,100.00	199.40	65.70	0.91%
Northiam	95,000.00	1,045.60	90.86	100,000.00	1,057.30	94.58	-3.93%
Peasmarsh	37,000.00	502.10	73.69	37,000.00	514.00	71.98	2.38%
Pett	23,000.00	467.60	49.19	23,000.00	471.80	48.75	0.90%
Playden	5,000.00	159.00	31.45	5,000.00	163.50	30.58	2.84%

	2021/22						
LOCAL TAX AREA	LOCAL PRECEPT	divided by LOCAL TAX BASE	gives LOCAL BAND D COUNCIL TAX	LOCAL PRECEPT	divided by LOCAL TAX BASE	gives LOCAL BAND D COUNCIL TAX	COUNCIL TAX INCREASE
Rye (note 2)	236,686.00	1,884.80	125.58	240,027	1,930.20	124.35	0.99%
Rye Foreign	2,000.00	187.90	10.64	2,000.00	175.40	11.40	-6.67%
Salehurst	98,370.00	1,024.90	95.98	96,606.00	1,041.30	92.77	3.46%
Sedlescombe	57,184.00	665.50	85.93	57,184.00	678.50	84.28	1.96%
Ticehurst	147,980.00	1,646.70	89.86	146,400.00	1,640.30	89.25	0.68%
Udimore	7,000.00	182.30	38.40	4,200.00	187.10	22.45	71.05%
Westfield	45,341.00	1,104.80	41.04	42,375.00	1,124.10	37.70	8.86%
Whatlington	7,100.00	156.40	45.40	7,100.00	157.40	45.11	0.64%

Note 1 Bexhill local precept shown above comprises : Bexhill Charter Trustees Precept 0.0 0 : Bexhill Parish Council 16,456.2 371,765 22.59 : Bexhill Special Expenses 628,100 16,456.2 38.17 999,865 60.76 Note 2 Rye local precept shown above comprises : Rye Town Council Precept 173,176 1,884.8 91.88 : Rye Special Expenses 63,510 1,884.8 33.70 125.58 236,686

Budget consultation report - Summary

- 1. This consultation ran from 30 November 2020 to 18 January 2021.
- 2. We had a total of 343 responses, of which 340 used the online questionnaire. We have responses from 10 named local organisation, including four town and parish councils.
- 3. In terms of residents' responses:
 - a. 51% lived in Bexhill, 10% lived in Battle, 4% lived in Rye and 34% lived in a Rother village or the countryside.
 - b. 49% were male and 48% were female, the remainder did not wish to answer or identified another way.
 - c. 38% were aged 65 to 79 and this age group was over-represented. We had no under 18s respond. Only 7% of respondents were aged 18 to 34 and this age group was under-represented.
 - d. 16% were disabled or had a long-term illness or condition
 - e. 92% were White British descent, 5% had another White background and 2% had another background, mainly various mixed heritages.

Section One: Local Issues and Priorities

- 4. We asked respondents what is the most important issue facing Rother right now. Local organisations said:
 - a. The pandemic, housing and homelessness and the environment and climate change. These three issues were selected by three organisations each.
 - b. Economy, healthcare, individual's behaviour, social care provision, which were each selected by one organisation.
- 5. For the most important issue residents said, in order of frequency of selection, the top six selections only:
 - a. Coronavirus and the pandemic
 - b. Economy and economic situation
 - c. Environment and climate change
 - d. Social care provision and NHS and healthcare (equal fourth)
 - e. Poverty and inequality.
- 6. We asked for the next three most important issues facing the area. Organisations gave these responses (most selected responses):
 - a. Housing and poverty and inequality, selected by five local organisations
 - b. Economy and education and schools, selected by four organisations
 - c. Coronavirus and pandemics, the NHS and healthcare and aging population, selected by three local organisations.
- 7. We asked the most important factors that contribute to their quality of life. The top five response from residents were:
 - a. Being healthy

- b. Being financially independent
- c. Feeling safe
- d. Having a nice place to live
- e. Children having good opportunities to succeed.
- 8. When asked what is the single challenge or priority that residents were most concerned about (top six responses in order of most selected first):
 - a. My physical health and fitness
 - b. Anti-social behaviour in my community
 - c. Climate change
 - d. My mental health and wellbeing
 - e. Local environment or pollution
 - f. Housing affordability
- 9. When asked to select three further concerns that they are most concerned about residents responded (in order of most selected, top six selections):
 - a. Local environment and pollution
 - b. Anti-social behaviour in my community
 - c. Cleanliness of street and local area
 - d. My physical health and fitness
 - e. Climate change
 - f. Public transport

Section Two: Rother District Council Responses and Services

- 10. We asked how much respondents agreed or disagreed with actions the council could take when faced with financial pressure.
- 11. Organisations agreed the most with (top three in order of highest percentage that said agree or agree strongly):
 - a. Streamlining services so that we can deliver the same outcomes
 - b. Prioritising spending to protect services for the most vulnerable and those without choice
 - c. Help people to help themselves more so they have less reliance on publicly funded services
- 12. Residents agreed the most with (top three in order of highest agreement):
 - a. Prioritise spending to protect services for the most vulnerable
 - b. Use or partner with other organisations to provide services
 - c. Help people to help themselves more
- 13. We asked when the council should consider increases in Council Tax.

 Organisations and residents most supported the conditions (top three in order of most agreement):
 - a. To protect services for the most vulnerable and those without choice
 - b. Only when opportunities to streamline services have been exhausted
 - c. When the alternative is to stop delivering some services

- 14. We asked which five of Rother District Council's should be top priority for
 - 2021. Residents said (top 10 in order of most selected):
 - a. Waste collection and recycling
 - b. Community safety
 - c. Attracting inward investment (businesses, jobs)
 - d. Economic regeneration
 - e. Covid-19 outbreak management
 - f. Homelessness services
 - g. Provision of social housing
 - h. Climate change and reducing carbon footprint
 - i. Aids and adaptations in homes to help residents stay at home
- 15. Local organisations said their top five are (in order of most selected, top 11 because last four were selected by same number of organisations):
 - a. Waste collection and recycling
 - b. Climate change and reducing carbon footprint
 - c. Enforcement of planning regulations
 - d. Provision of social housing
 - e. Economic regeneration
 - f. Investing in Rother's digital infrastructure
 - g. Homelessness services
 - h. Planning application process, development control
 - i. Covid-19 outbreak management
 - j. Attracting inward investment (businesses, jobs)
- 16. All except one organisation said that they would be affected by budget setting decisions by the council to some extent and 79% of residents felt they would be affected by any decisions.
- 17. We asked how well informed respondents felt about financial challenges facing councils. In total, 56% felt very or fairly well informed. However, 41% felt not very well informed or not informed at all.
- 18. We asked how interested respondents were to be better informed about the council's financial challenges. All the responding organisations had some interest in being better informed. For residents, 96% expressed an interest in being better informed with 26% being very interested and 47% being interested. 4.5% had little or no interest in being better informed.
- 19. We asked how respondents like to be informed and the most popular method for both local organisations and residents were as follows.
 - a. My Alerts
 - b. Going direct to the council's website
 - c. Through the post (leaflets, letters)
 - d. Social media
 - e. Local newspapers
- 20. Further analysis and included comments are in the main report. All comments will be provided to Members.



Rother District Council

Report to - Council

Date - 22 February 2021

Report of - Licensing and General Purposes Committee

Subject - References from the Licensing and General Purposes

Committee

The Council is asked to consider the recommendation arising from the Licensing and General Purposes Committee meeting held on 18 January 2021 as set out below.

LICENSING AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE - 18 January 2021

LG20/18. LICENSING POLICY 2021

Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Service-Environmental Services, Licensing and Community Safety on the Council's Licensing Policy 2021.

Rother District Council was required to have a Licensing Policy that set out how the Council would generally approach the licensing of premises, persons and events where there was the provision for the sale and /or supply of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. The Council's Licensing Policy had been developed in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 and also with statutory guidance issued under section 182 of the Act.

There were four main licensing objectives that had to always be promoted whilst making decisions on applications received in regard to this area:

- The prevention of crime and disorder
- Public safety
- The prevention of public nuisance
- The protection of children from harm

It was a legal requirement for the authority to review and approve its Licensing Policy every five years. The Council had consulted the responsible authorities (Sussex Police, East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service etc.) and the Director of Public Health about any changes required to be made to the policy. No major changes were proposed, but the policy would be amended to reflect administrative changes - names and addresses etc.

Members noted that the policy could be reviewed at any time; if a request for amendment was received it would be reported to the Committee for consideration. Major changes would be subject to consultation with premises licence holders and the public.

Minor grammatical errors within the policy were noted and Members agreed that the Chief Executive and Head of Service make any

necessary amendments prior to the submission to Council for approval in February 2021.

RECOMMENDED: That the Council's Licensing Policy 2021, as amended, be approved and adopted. (Attached at Appendix A).

(Licensing and General Purposes Committee Agenda Item 7)

Councillor A.S. Mier Chairman, Licensing and General Purposes Committee



LICENSING ACT 2003

Licensing Policy

2021

CONTENTS

Part A Background

Part B Introduction

Part C Licensing Policies & Matters for Consideration by Applicants

Section A: Prevention of Crime & Disorder

Section B: Public Safety

Section C: Prevention of Public Nuisance

Section D: Protection of Children

Appendix 1 - Licences Fees / Regulated Entertainment/ Late Night Refreshments

Appendix 2 – Safety Advisory Groups

Part A

Background

Rother District is situated at the eastern end of the County of East Sussex and covers an area of 200 square miles. With a 25-mile coastline, it is predominantly a rural District that embraces the vast majority of the historic 1066 countryside. The town of Bexhill-on-Sea is home for just under 50% of the District's total resident population of 85,460 (2001 Census). The 31 small towns and villages are home for the remainder of the population. The second and third largest towns are historic Battle and Rye.

The Council recognises that the best means of promoting the licensing objectives is through the co-operation and partnership of local authorities, the police, Security Industry Authority (SIA), local business, performers, local people and those involved in child protection.

Other Legislation

Premises must have the appropriate planning permission to operate and comply with all other relevant legislation, e.g.

- The Gambling Act 2005
- The Equality Act 2010
- The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
- Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
- The Environmental Protection Act 1990
- Noise Act 1996
- Health & Safety at Work etc Act 1974 (Risk Assessments for work practices and fire safety).
- Food Safety Act 1990 (Food Hygiene).
- Building Regulations.

Operating Schedule

Application for a premises licences or club premises certificate must be accompanied by an operating schedule that demonstrates that the licensed premises can comply with this licensing policy and achieve the four licensing objectives of:

- Prevention of crime and disorder.
- Public safety.
- The prevention of public nuisance.
- The protection of children from harm.

The operating schedule must be adequate and appropriate for the type, site and opening hours of the particular premises. The policies and matters for consideration in Part C are not standard but need to be considered and included in the operating schedule if necessary.

The operating schedule forms a vitally important part of the completed application form for a premises licence since it serves to indicate the basis on which it is proposed that the premises will be operated. In the event that the premises licence is granted without objection, the operating schedule becomes part of the licence, in that its contents

become conditions of the licence. The Act requires an operating schedule to set out the steps, which an applicant of a premises licence proposes to take, to achieve the licensing objectives. These steps will have emerged from the risk assessments which applicants are encouraged to undertake before making an application for a premises licence.

Where the responsible authorities and interested parties do not raise any representations about the application, it is the duty of the licensing authority to grant the premises licence. The duty is to grant subject only to conditions that are necessary for the promotion of the licence objectives and are consistent with the operating schedule and any mandatory conditions described in the Act itself. Great care and attention should therefore be given to the preparation of an operating schedule in order to ensure that it is clearly sets out the steps which the applicant will definitely take when operating his business.

The operating schedule should include any information which is necessary to allow any responsible authority or interested party to assess whether the steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives are satisfactory.

An operating schedule should include a description of the style and the character of the business to be conducted on the premises (for example a supermarket or a cinema with six screens and a bar, or restaurant or public house with two bars, a dining area and a garden open to the public). The Secretary of State's Guidance states that "where alcohol is being sold for consumption on the premises in public houses, bars and nightclubs, it would also be valuable to know the extent to which seating is to be provided because research has shown that the amount of seating can be relevant to the prevention of crime and disorder. It should also indicate the type of activities available on the premises, whether licensable under the 2003 Act or not". In relation to dance, (other than Morris dancing or dancing of a similar nature which does not constitute the provision of regulated entertainment) the operating schedule should describe the type of dancing in broad terms and disclose if any dancing involves striptease or lap-dancing. It should be made clear whether the dancing will take place by members of the public, or performers or both. In relation to music, it should be made clear what type of music is to be provided (for example, live acoustic music, live amplified music, pre-recorded dance music). This information will allow the responsible authorities and interested parties to form a proper view as to what measures would be necessary to ensure public safety and prevent nuisance.

The following advice is from the Secretary of State's Guidance:

- (a) In preparing operating schedules, applicants should have regard to statements of licensing policy.
- (b) Licensing authorities and responsible authorities are expected so far as possible to publish material about the promotion of the licensing objectives and to ensure that applicants can readily access advice about the matters.
- (c) Applicants may wish to consult the following in relation to relevant issues:
 - (i) Crime Prevention: the police
 - (ii) Crime and disorder: the police and local authority
 - (iii) Noise: Environmental Health (Pollution)
 - (iv) Fire safety and capacity: ESFRS

Part B

1.0 Introduction

- 1.1 The Council in pursuance of its duties and powers under the Licensing Act 2003 hereby formally makes a statement as to its policy in respect of the provision of that Act. Rother District Council is the licensing authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and is responsible for granting premises licences, club premises certificates, and personal licences in the District in respect of the sale and/or supply of alcohol and the provision of regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. In this document the Council means the licensing authority.
- 1.2 The aim of the policy is to secure the safety and amenity of residential communities and patrons whilst facilitating a sustainable entertainment and cultural industry. Rother District Council in adopting the licensing policy recognises both the needs of residents to live in a safe and healthy nuisance free environment and the importance of safe and well run entertainment premises for the local economy and vibrancy of the District.
- 1.3 The policy provides guidance to applicants, objectors and interested residents as to the general approach of the Council will take in terms of licensing. Although each licence application must be considered separately on its individual merits, the Council in adopting the licensing policy is making it clear that wider considerations other than the ability of the applicant and suitability of the premises will be taken into account.
- 1.4 The policy must be reviewed every 5 years. It may also be reviewed at shorter intervals if required.

2.0 The Policy

- 2.1 The Act requires that the Council carries out its various licensing functions so as to promote the following four licensing objectives, which are set out in the Act:-
 - (a) The prevention of crime and disorder
 - (b) Public safety
 - (c) The prevention of public nuisance
 - (d) The protection of children from harm

Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing objectives, so that the promotion of the four objectives is a paramount consideration at all times.

- 2.2 The Act further requires that the Council publishes a 'Statement of Licensing Policy' that sets out the policies the Council will generally apply to promote the licensing objectives when making decisions on applications made under the Act.
- 2.3 This Statement of Licensing Policy has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Guidance issued under section 182 of the Act and revised guidance published March 2015.

2.4 Licensing is about regulating the carrying on of licensable activities on licensed premises, and by qualifying clubs. The conditions attached to licences will be focussed on matters which are within the control of individual licensees. Accordingly, these matters will centre on the premises and in the vicinity of those premises. The licensing authority's focus is the impact of activities taking place on licensed premises on members of the public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned.

3.0 Cumulative Effect of a number of Licensed Premises in one area

- 3.1 The Council will not take 'need' into account when considering an application. 'Need' concerns the commercial demand for another licensed premises. This is a matter for planning development control and the market. However, it recognises that the cumulative impact of the number, type and density of licensed premises in a given area, may lead to serious problems of nuisance and disorder outside at some distance from the premises.
- 3.2 Representations may be received from a responsible authority/interested party that an area has become saturated with premises making it a focal point for large groups of people to gather and circulate away from the licensed premises themselves, creating exceptional problems of disorder and nuisance over and above the impact from the individual premises.
- 3.3 In these circumstances, the Council may consider that the imposition of conditions is unlikely to address these problems and may consider the adoption of a special policy of refusing new premises licences or club premises certificates because the area is saturated with such premises and the granting of any more would undermine one of the licensing objectives.
- 3.4 When considering whether to adopt a special saturation policy the Council will have regard to:
 - Identification of concern from a responsible authority or representatives of residents about nuisance and disorder.
 - Consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that crime and disorder and nuisance are arising and are caused by the customers of licensed premises, and if so identifying the area from which problems are arising and the boundaries of that area; or that the risk factors are such that the area is reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent.
- 3.5 The Council will consider representations on the grant of a particular application based on its impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives in the District generally.
- 3.6 However, the onus would be on the responsible authority or representative to provide evidence to back up any assertion that the addition of the premises in question would produce the cumulative impact claimed, taking into account that the impact will be different for premises with different styles and characteristics.
- 3.7 It therefore also recognises that, within this policy, it may be able to approve licences that are unlikely to add significantly to the saturation and will consider the circumstances of each individual application.

- 3.8 Even in the absence of a special policy, the issue of cumulative impact can be raised on a new application if it is alleged to impact on one or more of the licensing objectives.
- 3.9 Where the licensing authority has concerns about the effect of activities at existing premises between midnight and 6am on the promotion of the licensing objectives in a specific area, it may introduce an Early Morning Restriction Order (EMRO) if there is sufficient evidence to do so. An EMRO is a powerful tool which will prevent licensed premises, in the area to which the EMRO relates, from supplying alcohol during the times at which the EMRO applies. EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance and other instances of alcohol related behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises.

The Council would however seriously consider whether taking this step is reasonable, justified and proportionate. It is the Council's intention to support businesses rather than hinder them, whilst ensuring the promotion of the licensing objectives. The introduction of an EMRO may have far reaching, wider impacts on the socio-economic circumstances in an area. Other measures that could be considered prior to an EMRO include:

- Working in partnership with licensed premises on voluntary measures and encouraging the creation of business-led best practice schemes in the area;
- Reviewing licences of specific problem premises
- Use of the new closure power in the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. This new closure power can be used to protect victims and communities by quickly closing premises that are causing nuisance or disorder.
- Introducing a Cumulative Impact Policy

4.0 Other Controls on Anti-social Behaviour

- 4.1 Other mechanisms exist to control the anti-social behaviour of the minority of consumers who behave badly and unlawfully after leaving licensed premises etc. These controls include:
 - Planning controls;
 - Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other departments of the local authority;
 - The provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, taxi ranks, provision of public conveniences open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols;
 - Power of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as
 places where alcohol may not be consumed publicly. (Public Spaces
 Protection Order (PSPO) in the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing
 Act 2014 can be used to restrict the drinking of alcohol in a public place
 where this has, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life
 on those in the locality, be persistent or continuing in nature, and
 unreasonable);
 - Police enforcement of the law concerning disorder and anti-social behaviour including the issuing of fixed penalty notices;

- The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at such premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk;
- The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas:
- Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed premises or temporary events on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder or excessive noise emanating from the premises;
- The power of the Police and other responsible authorities or a local resident or business to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question;
- Raising a contribution to policing the late night economy through the Late Night Levy.

5.0 Licensing Hours

- 5.1 With regard to licensing hours, the Council acknowledges that different opening hours can help reduce the number of people leaving licensed premises at the same time. The aim of which is to avoid binge drinking at the end of the evening. This is necessary to reduce the friction on late night food outlets, taxi ranks and other sources of transport which lead to disorder and disturbance. However, there is no general presumption in favour of lengthening licensing hours.
- 5.2 Premises in residential areas may be subject to stricter controls with regard to opening hours to ensure that disturbance to local residents is minimised. The Council considers that it is self-evident that the risk of disturbance to local residents is greater when licensable activities continue late at night and into the early hours of the morning. For example, the risk of residents' sleep being disturbed by patrons leaving licensed premises is obviously greater at 2 a.m. than at 11 p.m. It is, therefore, the policy of the Council to strike a fair balance between the benefits to a community of a licensed venue and the risk of disturbance to local residents. In predominantly residential areas, therefore, it may not be appropriate to allow closing times later than midnight. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate, with detailed proposals, how their business will uphold the public nuisance objective towards residential neighbours where opening hours exceed midnight. These measures need to be detailed in the application, not introduced late in the application process or during hearings.
- 5.3 It may be acceptable to open later on a limited number of occasions. This would allow licensees to extend opening beyond midnight for special occasions such as New Year. However, every application will be determined on its merits, and applicants wishing to operate beyond midnight will need to demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the Council, in their operating schedule, that there will be no significant disturbance to members of the public living, working or otherwise engaged in normal activity around the premises concerned.

6.0 Integration of Strategies

6.1 The Council will secure the proper integration of this policy with local crime prevention, public safety, planning, transport, tourism, public health and cultural strategies by liaising and consulting with Sussex Police, East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Crime & Disorder Partnerships, East Sussex Public Health Service and following the guidance in the adopted Crime & Disorder Reduction Strategy for the District. The Committee will liaise and consult with the Planning Committee and follow the guidance of the Local Plan.

- The Committee will also liaise with East Sussex County Council as the Highways and Transport Authority. The Licensing Committee will consider the Authorities existing and future arts, cultural and tourism strategies.
- 6.2 The Licensing Authority will give considerable weight to representations about child protection matters. In addition to the responsible authority whose functions relate directly to child protection, the Director of Public Health may also have access to relevant evidence to inform such representations. These representations may include, amongst other things, the use of health data about the harms that alcohol can cause to underage drinkers. Appropriate conditions could be considered to ensure that children are protected from harm.
- 6.3 Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates will, so far as possible, reflect local crime & disorder reduction strategies.

7.0 Tourism and Employment

7.1 The Licensing Committee may receive reports when appropriate on the needs of the local tourist economy and any future cultural strategy for the area to ensure these are reflected in their considerations. The Committee may also be kept appraised of the employment situation in the area and the need for new investment and employment where appropriate.

8.0 Planning Applications

- 8.1 The determination of planning applications and licensing applications are recognised as being a separate activity. Licensing applications are not a re-run of the planning application and should not cut across decisions taken by the Local Authority Planning Committee or following appeals against decisions by that Committee. The Licensing Committee where appropriate will provide regular reports to the Planning Committee on the situation regarding licensed premises in the area including the general impact of alcohol related crime and disorder.
- 8.2 In general, all premises that apply for a licence must also have authorized planning permission and comply with conditions of that planning permission that relate to the four licensing objectives, or be deemed permitted development pursuant to the General Permitted Development Order (1995). The Licensing Committee may refuse to grant a licence following representations from the Local Planning Authority if the activity to be authorised by the licence would constitute unlawful planning use or the hours of operation sought exceed those authorized by the planning permission.

9.0 Other Legislation

9.1 The Council will seek to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes as far as possible. However, if other regulations do not cover the unique circumstances that arise in connection with for example entertainment at specified premises then additional controls will be imposed.

10.0 Standardised Conditions

10.1 Conditions can only be imposed if a relevant representation is made and it is necessary to secure the licensing objectives. Conditions attached to licensing

certificates will, as far as possible, be tailored to the individual style and characteristics of the premises and events concerned. Disproportionate and over burdensome conditions on premises will not be imposed where there is no need for such conditions. Standardised conditions will be avoided.

11.0 Enforcement

Enforcement of licensing laws, public safety and the inspection of licensed premises will be undertaken by the relevant authorities taking account of any local agreements between Sussex Police, East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service, Trading Standards and the Licensing Authorities of Sussex.

Inspections are carried out to check compliance with licensing conditions and statutory provisions.

12.0 Smoking

The Health Act 2006 was introduced to protect employees and the public from harmful effects of second hand smoke. Managers of licensed premises have a legal responsibility to prevent smoking and to ensure that no smoking signs are displayed.

13.0 Review Procedure

- 13.1 The process set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences represents a key protector for the community where problems associated with crime and disorder, public safety, public nuisance and the protection of children from harm are occurring.
- 13.2 Following the grant of a premises licence, a responsible authority such as the Police or the Fire Authority or an interested party, such as a resident living in the vicinity of the premises, may ask the Council to review the licence because of matters arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.
- 13.3 In every case, the representation must relate to particular premises for which a premises licence is in existence and must be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 13.4 The Council will endeavour to give licence holders early notification of their concerns about a problem identified at particular premises in partnership with other enforcement agencies. This does not affect the right of an interested party to call a review under provisions of the Act.

14.0 Live Music, Dancing and Theatre

14.1 The Council wishes to encourage and promote live music, dancing and theatre to the wider cultural benefit of its community.

15.0 Delegation of Functions

15.1 In the interests of speed, efficiency and cost-effectiveness decisions and functions of a purely administrative nature will be delegated as set out in table one.

16.0 Portman Group Code of Practice

16.1 The Council commends the use of the Portman Group's Code of Practice on drinks promoted to attract children.

17.0 Temporary Event Notices (TENs)

- 17.1 Certain temporary events are not required to be licensed but can be notified to the Licensing Authority using the Temporary Event Notice procedure. Nevertheless, depending on the nature and location of such events, these can have serious crime and disorder and noise implications. Organisers of these events are encouraged to submit their notification as soon as reasonably practicable to enable the Police and the Council to work with them to identify and reduce the risk of crime and disorder and noise nuisance.
- 17.2 The Council recommends that at least 28 days' notice be given to hold such events, to allow it to help organisers to plan their events safely. Any longer period than this may mean that organisers do not have all the details available at the time of submitting the notice, and any lesser time means that planning may be rushed and haphazard.
- 17.3 There are two types of TEN; a standard TEN and a late TEN. These are subject to different processes: a standard notice is given no later than 10 working days before the event to which it relates; and a late notice is given not before nine and not later than 5 working days before the event.
 - 17.4 In the event of a relevant representation from the Police and/or Environmental Health to a standard TEN the Council will hold a hearing not less than 24 hours before the event is due to take place. There is no right of hearing if an objection is lodged against a late TEN.

18.0 Outdoor Events

- 18.1 Outdoor events may range from relatively small local events, like fairs, which may last for 4 or 5 days, to major pop festivals lasting one or more days. Despite the temporary duration of such events, they can attract large numbers of people. The risks to public safety and to crime and disorder as well as public nuisance may be considerable. An event likely to attract more than 499 people will require an application for a premises licence
- 18.2 It is recommended that the applicant make an initial approach to the local authority at least 6–9 months prior to the proposed event. This will allow the Council and the Emergency Services sufficient time to assess and comment on how organisers are planning to manage their event. Many events will give rise to special considerations in respect of public safety and public nuisance. Operating schedules should therefore reflect an awareness of these matters. It

is recommended that an application be made at least 3 months prior to the event.

18.3 The Council may convene a Safety Advisory Group (SAG). A SAG is a meeting held with the event organiser and emergency services. The purpose of the meeting is to allow the emergency services and local authorities to advise the event organiser about the adequacy their event management plan (EMP). If such a meeting is held it is expected that the event organiser will attend and provide their EMP to other members well before the meeting. Appendix 2 provides further information.

It is the responsibility of the organisers/promoters to satisfy the Council that they have met the standards outlined in the following relevant documents: https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/

19.0 The Authority is aware of its responsibilities to be active and co-operate with the police and other statutory authorities to combat and deter child sexual exploitation, illegal immigration and modern day slavery.

Contact Details / Advice and Guidance

Further details about Rother District Councils licensing and application process, including application forms can be obtained from:-

Website: https://www.rother.gov.uk/licences-and-permits/licensing-act-2003/

Email: licensing@rother.gov.uk

Table One

Matter to be dealt with Application for personal licence	Licensing Panel	Head of Service All cases
Application for personal licence with relevant convictions	If a Police objection	If no objection made
Application for premises licence/club premises certificate including minor variations	If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application for provisional statement	If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application to vary premises licence/club premises certificate	If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application to vary designated premises supervisor	If a Police objection	All other cases
Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor		All cases
Application for transfer of premises licence	If a Police objection	All other cases
Applications for interim authorities	If a Police objection	All other cases
Application to review premises licence/club premises certificate	All cases	
Decision on whether a complaint is irrelevant frivolous vexatious etc		All cases
Decision to object when local authority is a consultee and not the relevant authority considering the application		All cases
Determination of an objection to a standard temporary event notice	All cases	
If determined by a Court		All cases

Licensing Regulations and Matters for Consideration by Applicants

Section A: Prevention of Crime and Disorder

Matters to be considered by the applicants

Applicants should have regard to the following matters when writing their operating schedules and are advised to consult Sussex Police before submitting their application. If the Council receive a representation, additional conditions may be imposed at the Hearing that determines the application.

It should be noted in particular that it is unlawful under the 2003 Act:

- To sell or supply alcohol to a person who is drunk.
- To knowingly allow disorderly conduct on licensed premises.
- For the holder of a premises licence or a designated premises supervisor to knowingly keep or to allow to be kept on licensed premises any goods that have been imported without payment of duty or which have otherwise been unlawfully imported.
- To allow the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult between midnight and 05:00 hrs at any premises licensed for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises and at any time in premises used exclusively or primarily for the sale and consumption of alcohol.

Conditions enforcing these arrangements are therefore unnecessary.

When applicants for premises licences or club premises certificates are preparing their operating schedules or club operating schedules, when responsible authorities are considering such applications and when licensing authorities are considering applications following the receipt of any relevant representations from a responsible authority or interested party, the following options should be considered as measures which, if necessary, would promote the prevention of crime and disorder. The options below are not a complete list of actions that can be taken, and new control measures will arise from new technology.

Whether or not any risk assessment shows them to be necessary in the individual circumstances of any premises will depend on a range of factors including the nature and style of the venue, the activities being conducted there, the location of the premises and the anticipated clientele of the business involved. It should also be borne in mind that club premises operate under codes of discipline to ensure the good order and behaviour of members.

Necessary conditions for the licence or certificate will also depend on local knowledge of the premises.

Under no circumstances should the following measures be regarded as standard conditions to be automatically imposed in all cases. They are designed to provide a range of conditions drawn from experience relating to differing situations and to offer guidance.

Any individual preparing an operating schedule is at liberty to volunteer any measure, such as those described below, as a step he or she intends to take to promote the licensing objections. When incorporated into the licence or certificate as a condition, they become enforceable under the law and a breach of such a condition could give rise to prosecution.

Door Supervisors

Conditions relating to the provision of door supervisors and security teams may be valuable in:

- Preventing the admission and ensuring the departure from the premises of the drunk and disorderly, without causing further disorder.
- Keeping out excluded individuals (subject to court bans or imposed by the licence holder).
- Searching and excluding those suspected of carrying illegal drugs or carrying offensive weapons.
- Maintaining orderly queuing outside of venues prone to such queuing.

Where door supervisors are to be a condition of a licence, conditions may also be imposed such as, the displaying of name badges, the carrying of proof of registration, where and at what times they should be stationed on the premises, and whether at least one female should be available (for example, if female customers are to be the subject of body searches). Door supervisors also have a role to play in ensuring public safety.

Bottle Bans

Bottles may be used as weapons inflicting more serious harm during incidents of disorder. A condition can prevent sales of drinks in their bottles for consumption on the premises. However, many women consider that drinking from bottles to be safer as it is easier for them to prevent the spiking of drinks with drugs in bottles the openings of which may be readily covered. These issues, therefore, need to be carefully balanced.

Plastic Containers and Toughened Glass

Glasses containing drinks may be used as weapons during incidents of disorder and can cause very serious injuries. Consideration should therefore be given to conditions requiring either the use of plastic containers or toughened glass which inflicts less severe injuries. Location and style of the venue and the activities carried on there would be particularly important in assessing whether a condition is necessary. For example, the use of glass containers on the terraces of outdoor sports grounds may obviously be of concern, but similar concerns may also apply to indoor sports events such as boxing matches. Similarly, the use of such plastic containers or toughened glass during the televising of live sporting events, such as international football matches, when high states of excitement and emotion fuelled by alcohol might arise, may be a necessary condition.

It should also be noted that the use of plastic or paper drinks containers and toughened glass may also be relevant as measures to promote public safety.

CCTV

The presence of CCTV cameras can be an important means of deterring and detecting crime at and immediately outside licensed premises. Operating schedules should state the precise siting of each camera, the requirement to maintain cameras in working order, and to retain recordings for an appropriate period of time.

For individuals conducting risk assessments when preparing their operating schedules the police may be able to advise on the use of CCTV to prevent crime.

Open Containers not to be taken from the Premises

Drinks purchased in licensed premises or clubs may be taken from those premises for consumption elsewhere. Where premises are licensed for the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises that would be entirely lawful. However, consideration should be given to preventing the taking of alcoholic and other drinks from the premises in open containers (e.g. glasses and opened bottles). This may again be necessary to prevent the use of these containers as offensive weapons in surrounding streets after individuals have left the premises.

Restrictions of Drinking Areas

It may be necessary to restrict the areas where alcoholic drinks may be consumed in premises after they have been purchased from the bar. An example would be at a sports ground where the police consider it necessary to prevent the consumption of alcohol on the terracing of sports grounds during particular sports events. Operating Schedules should not only specify these areas but indicate the circumstances in which the ban would apply and times at which it should be enforced.

Capacity Limits

Operating Schedules may need to set capacity limits for licensed premises or clubs where it may be necessary to prevent overcrowding which can lead to disorder or violence and hence prejudice public safety. Where such a condition is considered necessary, consideration should also be given to whether door supervisors would be needed to ensure that the numbers are appropriately controlled.

Proof of Age Cards

It is unlawful for children under 18 to attempt to buy alcohol just as it is unlawful to sell or supply alcohol to them. To prevent such crimes, it may be necessary to require a policy to be applied at certain licensed premises requiring the production of "proof of age" before such sales are made to anyone who appears to be 21 years old or younger. This should not be limited to recognised "proof of age" cards, but allow for the production of other proof, such as photo-driving licences, and passports. The policy supports the PASS (Proof of Age Standards Scheme), which encourages a PASS hologram logo on proof of age card schemes.

Crime Prevention Notices

It may be necessary at some premises for notices to be displayed which warn customers of the prevalence of crime which may target them. For example, in certain areas, a condition attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate might

require the displaying of notices at the premises which advise customers about the need to be vigilant of unattended bags because of concerns about terrorism.

Signage

It may be necessary for the normal hours under the terms of the premises licence or club premises certificate at which licensable activities are permitted to take place to be displayed on or immediately outside the premises so that it is clear if breaches of the terms of the licence or certificate are taking place.

Similarly, it may be necessary for any restrictions on the admission of children to be displayed on or immediately outside the premises so that the consequences of breaches of these conditions would also be clear and to deter those who might seek admission in breach of those conditions.

Pub and Bar Watch Schemes

The DPS is expected to regularly attend any local pub or bar watch schemes and abide by the decisions of the group, provided the decision to bar any person from licensed premises is taken in accordance with national guidelines and equality legislation.

All decisions taken must be based on sound evidence and reasons should be given. All actions must satisfy the necessary and proportionate test and be regularly reviewed.

Rother D.C. Policy A1 (Prevention of Crime & Disorder)

Where an applicant identifies an issue with regard to the prevention of crime & disorder, which is not covered by existing legislation, the applicant should identify in their operating schedule the steps which will be taken to ensure the prevention of crime & disorder.

In appropriate circumstances and normally for premises where licensable activities occur, after 2300 the Council expect operating schedules to include the following as to the specific premises and business carried out:-

- Use of CCTV both within and outside the premises in accordance with the code of practice issued by the Information Commissioner.
- Metal detection and search facilities.
- Procedures for risk assessing promotions and events such as "happy hours" including the potential to cause crime and disorder and plans for minimising such risks.
- Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs.
- Employment of door supervisors licensed by the Security Industry Authority and other appropriately trained staff.
- Participation in an appropriate Watch Scheme or other body designed to ensure effective liaison with other licensed premises.
- Proof of Age schemes e.g. Challenge 21.
- Controls on bottles, glasses and containers.
- Capacity limits.
- Notices and signage, including a prominent sign giving the name of the personal licence holder in charge of the premises. Similarly a prominent sign stating its permitted licensing hours and any restrictions on the admission of children.
- No admissions after a specified time.
- A personal licence holder to be on duty at the premises.

Reason

Prevention of crime is both an objective of the Licensing Act 2003 and an important responsibility of the Council under the Crime & Disorder Act 1998. It is important, therefore, that the applicant be able to demonstrate to the Council the practical steps that will be taken to further this objective.

Rother D.C. Policy A2 (Prevention of Crime & Disorder)

The Council will expect licensees of venues to take all reasonable steps to prevent the entry of drugs into licensed premises, to take appropriate steps to prevent drugs changing hands within the premises and to take practical measures to prevent tragedies as a result of drug misuse.

In particular the Council will expect licensees of such venues to be familiar with the contents of Chapter 4 (drug awareness) of the BIIAB Level 2 National Certificate for Entertainment Licensees and to be following the recommendations of that handbook. The Council will also expect licensees to be following the recommendations of the book "Safer Clubbing" issued by the Home Office (ISBN 1840827807).

Reason

The purpose of this policy is to further the crime prevention objective and to ensure public safety by preventing tragic loss of life caused by drug abuse, including overheating and other factors.

Rother D.C. Policy A3 (Prevention of Crime & Disorder)

Shops, Stores and Supermarkets

The Council will generally consider licensing shops, stores and supermarkets to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises at any times they are open for shopping. But shops must have adequate management practices to ensure that sales are not made to under 18 year olds and persons where there are grounds to believe that the sale will results in crime and disorder. The adoption of a policy to challenge any person attempting to purchase alcohol who appears to be 21 or 25 years old or younger.

Ensure only over 18 year olds sell alcohol or under 18 year olds are closely supervised doing so. Under 18 year olds should not sell alcohol if an over 18 year old is not present.

If the police make representations that a shop has been the focus of crime, disorder or underage sales then the sale of alcohol may be restricted to certain times only.

Reason

To prevent poorly managed shops from selling alcohol to children and alcoholics.

Rother D.C. Policy A4 (Prevention of Crime & Disorder)

Co-operation with Police, Local Authority Officers etc

The Premises Licence holder, Designated Premises Supervisors and staff employed on licensed premises must co-operate and actively assist Police Officers, Local Authority Officers and other enforcement agencies in carrying out their duties.

Reason

To ensure that crime is prevented and detected, and offenders are prosecuted.

Section B: Public Safety

Matters to be Considered by Applicants

Applicants should have regard to the following matters when writing their operating schedules and are advised to consult the Environmental Health Service (Health and Safety) at Rother District Council and Fire Prevention Officer at ESFRS before submitting their application. If the Council receives a representation, then at the Hearing that determines the application, additional conditions may be imposed.

It should be noted that conditions relating to public safety should be those, which are necessary, in the particular circumstances of any individual premises or club premises and should not duplicate other requirements of the law. Equally, the attachment of conditions to a premises licence or club premises certificate will not in any way relieve employers of the statutory duty to comply with the requirements of other legislation including the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, associated regulations and especially the requirements under the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 to undertake risk assessments. Employers should assess the risks, including risks from fire, and take measures necessary to avoid and control these risks. Conditions enforcing those requirements would therefore be unnecessary.

General

When applicants for premises licences or club premises certificates are preparing their operating schedules or club operating schedules, responsible authorities are considering such applications and licensing authorities are considering applications following the receipt of relevant representations from a responsible authority or interested party, the following options should be considered as measures that, if necessary, would promote public safety. It should also be recognised that special issues may arise in connection with outdoor and large scale events.

Whether or not any risk assessment shows any of the measures to be necessary in the individual circumstance of any premises will depend on a range of factors including the nature and style of the venue, the activities being conducted there, the location of the premises and the anticipated clientele of the business involved.

In addition, to considering the points made in this Part, those preparing premises operating schedules or club operating schedules, should consider, published relevant guidance and the latest version of the following guidance:

- Model National and Standard Conditions for Places of Public Entertainment and Associated Guidance ISBN 1 904031 11 0 (Entertainment Technology Press -ABTT Publications).
- Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 0 7176 1834 X.
- 5 Steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies (HSE 1998) ISBN 07176 15804.
- The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (The Stationery Office, 1997) ("The Green Guide") ISBN 0 11 300095 2.

 Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnival, Processions and Large Scale Performances published by the Independent Street Arts Network, copies of which may be obtained through www.streetartsnetwork.org/pages/publications.

However, in consulting these texts, which were prepared prior to the coming into force of the Licensing Act 2003, those creating operating schedules or club operating schedules, licensing authorities and responsible authorities should again note that under no circumstances should any conditions be regarded as standard for all premises.

Disabled People

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

- When disabled people are present, adequate arrangements exist to enable their safe evacuation in the event of an emergency; and
- Disabled people on the premises are made aware of those arrangements.

Escape routes

It may be necessary to include conditions relating to the maintenance of all escape routes and exits including external exits. These might be expressed in terms of the need to ensure that such exits are kept unobstructed, in good order with non-slippery and even surfaces, free of trip hazards and clearly identified. In restaurants and other premises where chairs and tables are provided this might also include ensuring that internal gangways are kept unobstructed.

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given in the Operating Schedule to ensure that:

- All exits doors are easily open able without the use of a key, card, code or similar means.
- Doors at such exits are regularly checked to ensure that they function satisfactorily, and a record of the check kept.
- Any security fastenings are removed prior to the premises being open to the public.
- All fire doors are maintained effectively self-closing and shall not be held open.
- Fire resisting doors to ducts, service shafts, and cupboards shall be kept locked shut.
- The edges of the treads of steps and stairways are maintained so as to be conspicuous.
- Adequate handrails to staircases and changes of floor level.

Safety checks

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given in the Operating Schedule that ensure that:

- Safety checks are carried out before the admission of the public.
- Details of such checks are kept in a log-book.

Curtains, hangings, decorations and upholstery

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given in the Operating Schedule that ensure that:

- Hangings, curtains and temporary decorations are maintained in a flame-retardant condition.
- Any upholstered seating meets on a continuous basis the pass criteria for smouldering ignition source 0. flaming ignition source 1 and crib ignition source 5 when tested in accordance with Part 5 of BS 5852:1990.
- Curtains, hangings and temporary decorations are arranged so as not to obstruct exits, fire safety signs or fire-fighting equipment.
- Temporary decorations are not used without the consent of the Council.

Accommodation limits

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

- Arrangements are made to ensure that any capacity limit imposed under the premises licence or club premises certificate are not exceeded.
- The licence holder, a club official, manager or designated premises supervisor should be aware of the number of people on the premises and required to inform any authorised person on request.

Fire action notices

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

 Notices detailing the actions to be taken in the event of fire or other emergencies, including how the fire brigade should be summoned, are prominently displayed and protected from damage and deterioration.

Outbreaks of fire

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

 The fire brigade must be called at once to any outbreak of fire, however slight and the details recorded in a Fire Log-book.

Loss of water

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions to ensure that:

 The local Fire Control centre are notified as soon as possible if the water supply to any hydrant, hose reel, sprinkler, drencher or other fire extinguishing installation is cut off or restricted.

Access for emergency vehicles

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

Access for emergency vehicles is kept clear and free from obstruction.

First aid

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

- Adequate and appropriate supply of first aid equipment and materials is available on the premises.
- At least one suitably trained first-aider shall be on duty when the public are present; and if more than one suitably trained first-aider that their respective duties are clearly defined.

Lighting

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions to ensure that:

- In the absence of adequate daylight, the lighting in any area accessible to the public, members or guests shall be fully in operation when they are present.
- Fire safety signs are adequately illuminated.
- Emergency lighting is not to be altered without the consent of the Council.

- Emergency lighting batteries are fully charged before the admission of the public, members or guests.
- In the event of the failure of normal lighting, where the emergency lighting battery has a capacity of an hour, arrangements are in place to ensure that the public, members or guests leave the premises within 20 minutes unless within that time normal lighting has been restored and the battery is being re-charged; and, if the emergency lighting battery has a capacity of three hours the appropriate period by the end of which the public should have left the premises is one hour.

Temporary electrical installations

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

- Temporary electrical wiring and distribution systems are not provided without notification to the Council at least ten days before commencement of the work.
- Temporary electrical wiring and distribution systems shall comply with the recommendations of BS 7671 or where applicable BS 7909.
- Temporary electrical wiring and distribution systems are inspected and certified by a competent qualified person before they are put to use.

Ventilation

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that the premises are effectively ventilated:

- Where the ventilation system is designed to maintain positive air pressure within part of the premises, that pressure is maintained whenever the public, member or guests are present in that part of the premises.
- Ventilation ductings are kept clean.
- Air filters are periodically cleaned and replaced to maintain a satisfactory air supply.

Indoor Sports Entertainments

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the safety of the public or club members and guests, consideration might also be given to conditions that ensure that:

- If necessary, an appropriately qualified medical practitioner is present throughout a sports entertainment involving boxing, wrestling, judo, karate or other sports entertainment of a similar nature.
- Where a ring is involved, it is constructed and supported to the satisfaction of the Council and any material used to form the skirt around the ring is flame-retardant.

- At any wrestling or other entertainments of a similar nature members of the public do not occupy any seat within 2.5 metres of the ring.
- At water sports entertainments, staff adequately trained in rescue and life safety procedures are stationed and remain within the vicinity of the water at all material times (see also Managing Health and Safety in Swimming Pools issued jointly by the Health and Safety Commission and Sport England).

Theatres and Cinemas (Promotion of Public Safety)

There are particular matters in the context of public safety and fire safety, which should be considered in connection with theatres and cinemas. The principle remains that conditions must be necessary and should be established through risk assessment.

Premises used for Closely Seated Audiences

Attendants

(a) The number of attendants on each floor in a closely seated auditorium should be as set out in the table below:

Number of members of the	Minimum number of attendants required	
audience present on a floor	to be present on that floor	
1 - 100	One	
101 - 250	Two	
251 - 500	Three	
501 - 750	Four	
751 - 1000	Five	
And one additional attendant for each additional 250 persons (or part thereof)		

- (b) Attendants shall not be engaged in any duties that would hinder the prompt discharge of their duties in the event of an emergency or entail their absence from that floor or auditorium where they are on duty.
- (c) Any attendant shall be readily identifiable to the audience (but this need not entail the wearing of a uniform).
- (d) The premises shall not be used for a closely seated audience except in accordance with seating plan(s), a copy of which is available at the premises and shall be shown to any authorised person on request.
- (e) No article shall be attached to the back of any seat which would reduce the clear width of seat ways or cause a tripping hazard or obstruction.
- (f) A copy of any certificate relating to the design, construction and loading of any temporary seating shall be kept available at the premises and shall be shown to any authorised person on request.

Standing and Sitting in Gangways etc

(a) Sitting on floors shall not be permitted except where authorised in the premises licence or club premises certificate.

- (b) Waiting or standing shall not be permitted except in areas designated in the premises licence or club premises certificate.
- (c) In no circumstances shall anyone be permitted to -
 - (i) Sit in any gangway
 - (ii) Stand or sit in front of any exit; or
 - (iii) Stand or sit on any staircase including any landings.

Drinks

Except as authorised by the premises licence or club premises certificate, no drinks shall be sold to or be consumed by a closely seated audience except in plastic or paper containers.

Balcony Fronts

Clothing or other objects shall not be placed over balcony rails or upon balcony fronts.

Special effects

Any special effects or mechanical installation should be arranged and stored so as to minimise any risk to the safety of the audience, the performers and staff. Advance warning of any special effects should be made.

Special effects include:

- Dry ice machines and cryogenic fog
- Smoke machines and fog generators
- Pyrotechnics, including fireworks
- Real flame
- Firearms
- Motor vehicles
- Strobe lighting
- Lasers (see HSE Guide The Radiation Safety of lasers used for display purposes [HS(G)95] and BS EN 60825: Safety of laser products)
- explosives and highly flammable substances
- In certain circumstances, it may be necessary to require that certain special effects are only used with the prior consent of the Council.

Scenery

Any scenery should be maintained flame-retardant.

Safety curtain

Where a safety curtain is necessary, it should be arranged so as to protect the audience from the effects of a fire or smoke on stage for sufficient time to enable the safe evacuation of the auditorium.

Where a stage with a proscenium arch is not equipped with a safety curtain, any curtains provided between the stage and the auditorium should be heavyweight and

be made of non-combustible material or inherently or durably treated flame-retarded fabric.

Ceilings

All ceilings in those parts of the premises to which the audience are admitted should be inspected by a suitably qualified person every five years and a structural safety certificate concerning the condition of the ceilings forwarded to the Council.

Seating

Where potential audience exceeds 250 all seats in the auditorium should, except in boxes accommodating not more than 8 persons, be either securely fixed to the floor or battened together in lengths of not fewer than four or more than twelve.

Premises used for Film Exhibitions

Attendants - premises without a staff alerting system

Where the premises are not equipped with a staff alerting system, the number of attendants present should be as set out in the table below:

Number of members of the audience	Minimum number of attendants		
present on the premises	required to be on duty		
1 - 250	Two		
And one additional attendant for each additional 250 members of the audience present (or part thereof)			
Where there are more than 150	At least one attendant shall be present		
members of an audience in any	in any auditorium or on any floor		
auditorium or on any floor			

Attendants - with a staff alerting system

(a) Where premises are equipped with a staff alerting system, the number of attendants present should be as set out in the table below:

Number of members of the audience present on the premises	Minimum number of attendants required to be on duty	Minimum number of staff on the premises who are available to assist in the event of an emergency
1 - 500	Two	One
501 - 1000	Three	Two
1001 - 1500	Four	Four
1501 or more	Five plus one for every 500 (or part thereof) persons over 2000 on the premises	Five plus one for every 500 (or part thereof) persons over 2000 on the premises

- (b) staff shall not be considered as being available to assist in the event of an emergency if they are:
 - (i) the holder of the premises licence or the manager on duty at the premises; or

- (ii) a member of staff whose normal duties or responsibilities are likely to significantly affect or delay his response in an emergency situation; or
- (iii) a member of staff whose usual location when on duty is more than 60 metres from the location to which he is required to go on being alerted to an emergency situation.
- (c) Attendants shall as far as reasonably practicable be evenly distributed throughout all parts of the premises to which the public have access and keep under observation all parts of the premises to which the audience have access.
- (d) The staff alerting system shall be maintained in working order.

Minimum Lighting

The level of lighting in the auditorium should be as great as possible consistent with the effective presentation of the film; and the level of illumination maintained in the auditorium during the showing of films would normally be regarded as satisfactory if it complies with the standards specified in BS CP 1007 (Maintained Lighting for Cinemas).

Flammable films

No flammable films should be allowed on the premises without the consent of the Council.

Rother D.C. Policy B1 (Public Safety)

Where an applicant identifies an issue with regard to public safety, which is not covered by existing legislation, the applicant should identify in their operating schedule the steps which will be taken to ensure public safety.

Premises that provide regulated entertainment for large numbers of people create additional safety hazards that need to be controlled. It is expected that operating schedules for these premises will include details of provisions to ensure the safety of temporary and permanent electrical installations, measures to provide means of escape from fire (including maximum numbers and emergency lighting), fire-fighting, fire precautions, lighting, attendants and structural safety.

Reason

Licensed premises need to demonstrate in their Operating Schedules practical safety procedures and measures that are sufficient to control the risks associated with temporary structures, installations and large numbers of people.

Section C: The Prevention of Public Nuisance

It should be noted that provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Noise Act 1996 provide some protection to the general public from the effects of noise nuisance. In addition, the provisions in Part 8 of the Licensing Act 2003 enable a senior police officer to close down instantly for up to 24 hours licensed premises and premises carrying on temporary permitted activities that are causing nuisance resulting from noise emanating from the premises. These matters should be considered before deciding whether or not conditions are necessary for the prevention of public nuisance.

Matters to be Considered by Applicants

Applicants should have regard to the following matters when writing their operating schedules and are advised to consult the Environmental Health Service (Pollution) at Rother District Council before submitting their application. If the Council receives a representation, at the Hearing that determines the application, additional conditions may be imposed.

Hours

The hours during which the premises are permitted to be open to the public or to members and their guests can be restricted (other than where they are protected by the transitional provisions of the Licensing Act 2003) by the conditions of a premises licence or a club premises certificate for the prevention of public nuisance. This must be balanced by the potential impact on disorder which results from artificially early fixed closing times.

Restrictions could be necessary on the times when certain licensable activities take place even though the premises may be open to the public at such times. For example, the playing of recorded music after a certain time might be prohibited, even though other licensable activities are permitted to continue.

Restrictions might be necessary on the parts of premises that might be used for certain licensable activities at certain times. For example, while the provision of regulated entertainment might be permitted while the premises is open to the public or members and their guests, regulated entertainment might not be permitted in a garden area of the premises after a certain time.

Noise and vibration

In certain premises where legislation does not provide adequately for the prevention of public nuisance, consideration might be given to conditions that ensure that:

- Noise or vibration does not emanate from the premises so as to cause a nuisance to the occupants of nearby properties. This might be achieved by a simple requirement to keep doors and windows at the premises closed, or to use noise limiters on amplification equipment used at the premises.
- Prominent, clear and legible notices are displayed at all exits requesting the public
 to respect the needs of local residents and to leave the premises and the area
 quietly.

- Prohibit certain rooms from being used for purposes that create noise.
- The use of explosives, pyrotechnics and fireworks of a similar nature, which could cause disturbance in surrounding area are restricted.
- The placing of refuse such as bottles into receptacles outside the premises takes place at times that will minimise the disturbance to nearby properties.

Noxious smells

In certain premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the prevention of public nuisance, consideration might be given to conditions that ensure that:

 Noxious smells from licensed premises are not permitted so as to cause a nuisance to nearby properties and the premises are properly vented.

Light pollution

Flashing or particularly bright lights on or outside licensed premises should not cause a nuisance to nearby properties. Any such condition needs to be balanced against the benefits to the prevention of crime and disorder of bright lighting in certain places.

Rother D.C. Policy C1 (Prevention of Public Nuisance)

Exterior Lighting

Exterior lighting and security lighting must be positioned to avoid disturbing neighbouring residential property.

Reason

Bright lights shining into the windows of residential properties can cause disturbance.

Rother D.C. Policy C2 (Prevention of Public Nuisance)

It is self-evident that the risk of disturbance to local residents is greater when licensable activities continue late at night and into the early hours of the morning. For example the risk of residents' sleep being disturbed by patrons leaving licensed premises is obviously greater at 0200hrs than at 2300hrs.

The policy of the Council is to strike a fair balance between the benefits to a community of a licensed venue and the risk of disturbance to local residents. Consequently in sensitive areas the Council may restrict the hours of operation, as an alternative *or* in addition to sound insulation and other noise control measures.

Premises where licensable activities occur between 2300 and 0800 will be expected to have:-

(a) a high level of accessibility to public transport services; and/or

Policy C2 (Contd).

- (b) an appropriate amount of car parking, readily accessible to the premises, and in places where vehicular movement will not cause demonstrable adverse impact to local residents; **and**
- (c) an operating schedule that has been agreed with the Council indicating that the applicant is taking appropriate steps to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance.

Exceptions may be made where it can be demonstrated that:

- (a) the licensable activities would not be likely to cause adverse impact especially on local residents, and that, if there is a potential to cause adverse impact, appropriate measures will be put in place to prevent it;
- (b) there will not be any increase in the cumulative adverse impact from these or similar activities, on an adjacent residential area; and
- (c) there is a particularly high level of public transport accessibility to and from the premises at the appropriate times;
- (d) the activity will not be likely to lead to a demonstrable increase in car parking demand in surrounding residential streets.

Reason

Any activity involving public entertainment or eating or drinking on the premises has the potential to impact adversely on the surrounding area due to noise, smells, or congestion on the footway. It may also be caused by the customers being noisy when leaving, dropping litter or taking up on-street car parking space needed by residents. The impact of noise generated by these activities, especially customers departing either on foot or in cars, is particularly intrusive at night when ambient noise levels are much lower.

Most of the district is very sensitive to the impact of licensable activities because it is either residential in character or close to residential areas and background noise levels are low. Many shopping areas are abutted by residential areas, including housing above commercial premises. The impact of traffic and parking related to licensed premises can be considerable. Even where a majority of customers arrive on foot or by public transport, the additional parking demand may be significant, especially where there are already a number of licensed premises. The impact may be felt by local residents in preventing them from parking close to their homes and by increasing the danger from traffic in residential streets.

Rother D.C. Policy C3 (Prevention of Public Nuisance)

Tables and Chairs outside Premises and Beer gardens

The authority may impose conditions on the number of tables and chairs permitted, their location and the times they can be present.

The Beer gardens of public houses and particularly rural public houses are an asset to the premises. The provision of tables and chairs outside the premises either on the highway or on private land can enhance the attractiveness of the venue. It can have the benefit of encouraging a continental style café culture. However, late at night these same tables and chairs can contribute to noise problems and can be used as weapons. This is because they can encourage patrons and passers-by to loiter rather than disperse. In certain locations they have been taken over by gangs of noisy youths.

The leaving of tables and chairs on the public highway will need the consent of East Sussex County Council. On private land consent may not be required, but, the operating schedule must adequately address public nuisance. The Council may restrict the use of chairs and beer gardens on both the public highway and private gardens. The restriction may specify hours of use, the removal of chairs or the numbers of chairs permitted.

The noise from patrons socialising outside a premises can be particularly disturbing after 2200 or sunset.

If these hours lead to adverse impacts on the safety and amenity of local residents, they may be reduced on renewal unless appropriate measures have been agreed with the Council to mitigate these impacts.

Reason

This policy is designed to strike a fair balance between the needs of those wishing to enjoy refreshment in the open air and the need to ensure safety and prevent nuisance problems.

Rother D.C. Policy C4 (Prevention of Public Nuisance)

Sanitary Accommodation

Premises must have sufficient provision of sanitary accommodation (e.g. water closets and urinals) for males and females and adequately signed, located, maintained and kept clean. The Council has adopted standards for sanitary accommodation provision.

Reason

To prevent the public nuisance of people urinating and defecating in the street, public place or private land, causing nuisance to members of the public.

Rother D.C. Policy C5 (Prevention of Public Nuisance)

Noise Controls

Where an applicant identifies an issue with regard to the prevention of public nuisance, which is not covered by existing legislation the applicant, should identify in their operating schedule the steps, which will be taken to ensure the prevention of public nuisance.

Stricter conditions with regard to noise control will be expected in areas of the District which have denser residential accommodation or low levels of background noise, but this will not limit opening hours without regard to the individual merits of any application.

The operating schedule must have regard to the nature of the area where the premises are situated, the type of premises concerned, the licensable activities to be provided, operational procedures and the needs of the local community. In this respect the Council will expect the schedule to demonstrate how it is intended that the premises will be "good neighbours" both to residents and to other venues and businesses.

In particular it will expect the applicant to be proposing practical steps to prevent disturbance to local residents. In relation to noise from within the building the Council will expect the applicant to have carried out sound tests to ascertain whether there is sound leakage. This noise could relate not only to music but also from air handling equipment or patrons. In premises that are open between 0800 and 2300 that provide regulated entertainment or if there is sound leakage the Council will expect this to have been addressed i.e.

- Switching off fans and ventilation not required for public areas at 2300.
- Keeping doors and windows closed and providing adequate mechanical ventilation.
- Reducing sound levels and installing a sound limiting device (approved by the Council) to prevent sound exceeding the appropriate level.
- Installing soundproofing measures to contain sound and vibration.

The Council will expect popular venues (including take-aways), which attract queues, to formulate a system to avoid disturbance to residents. This can sometimes be achieved by simply ensuring that the direction of the queue is away from residential accommodation.

However, excessive noise and/or disorder require more rigorous action. It is important that queues formed later in the evening are supervised to keep noise to a minimum. This action can also help stop drug dealers from passing on drugs during the queuing process, but the prime purpose is to prevent noise and disturbance. Door supervisors will generally carry out this role, but they must be given clear instructions as to their duties and responsibilities where necessary they should be adequately supervised.

In terms of patrons leaving the premises particularly late at night (after 2300) or early in the morning the Council will expect the applicant to have included in their operating schedule, where appropriate, such practical steps as:

Policy C5 (Contd).

- Erecting prominent notices at the exits to premises asking customers to leave quietly and not to slam car doors.
- At appropriate times making loudspeaker announcements within the premises to the same effect.
- Instructing door staff to ask customers leaving the premises to leave the area quietly.
- Reducing the volume of music towards the end of the evening and where appropriate playing quieter, more soothing music as the evening winds down.
- Giving free lollipops to customers as they leave.
- Where appropriate considering car jockey schemes.
- Availability of licensed taxis or private hire vehicles to take patrons from the premises.

Fans and ventilation systems if not properly designed, constructed and maintained can cause noise disturbance. The noise produced may not be a problem during the evening but may cause disturbance to local residents when they are trying to sleep, i.e. at 2300. The total noise energy (L_{Aeq}), background noise (L_{A90}) and tonal content of the noise are important. Premises which will be operating fans and ventilation systems after 2300 should demonstrate in their operating schedules that the noise produced will not cause disturbance to local residents.

There should be no loud speakers outside the building unless agreed by the Council for a specific event and the operating schedule must include measures to control noise e.g. hours of use.

Reason

Noise from licensed premises gives rise to a large number of complaints from local residents. Additional controls are required if premises open when residents are sleeping or attempting to sleep.

Rother D.C. Policy C6 (Prevention of Public Nuisance)

Patrons in the Street

The noise from patrons congregating in the street outside licensed premises can cause disturbance to local residents particularly late at night. Patrons may stand in the street smoking and be joined by friends consuming alcohol.

Applicants should include if necessary in their operating schedule:

- Information about where patrons can smoke without causing a disturbance under this particular objective at any time.
- Conditions prohibiting the consumption of alcoholic and non-alcoholic drink and food purchased from the premises on a street after 2200.
- The prohibition of open containers of alcohol or non-alcoholic drinks being taken outside of the building.
- Demonstrate how you will control the behaviour of patrons in and around your premises in the prevention of public nuisance.

Reason

The noise from patrons socialising on a street late at night can disturb local residents.

Section D: Protection of Children

Matters to be considered by the applicants

Applicants should have regard to the following matters when writing their operating schedules and it is recommended they could seek advice from the East Sussex Safeguarding Children's Partnership ESSCP.Contact@eastsussex.gov.uk

If the Council receive a representation, at the Hearing that determines the application, additional conditions may be imposed.

It should be noted that it is unlawful under the 2003 Act to permit unaccompanied children under the age of 16 to be present on (a) premises exclusively or primarily used for supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises under the authorisation of a premises licences, club premises certificates or a temporary event notice when open for the purposes of being used for the supply of alcohol for consumption there or (b) in between midnight and 0500hrs at all premises supplying alcohol for consumption on those premises under the authorisation of any premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary event notice. Conditions duplicating these provisions are, therefore unnecessary.

Access for children to licensed premises - in general

Restrictions on the access of children under 18 to premises where licensable activities are being carried on should be made where it is necessary to protect children from harm. Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates may reflect the concerns of responsible authorities and interested parties who have made representations but only where the Council considers it necessary to protect children from harm. Whilst applications in relation to premises licences and club premises certificates must be judged by licensing authorities on their individual merits and characteristics, the Secretary of State recommends (unless there are circumstances justifying the contrary) that:

- For any premises with known associations (having been presented with evidence at a hearing) with underage drinking, drugs, significant gambling, or any activity or entertainment (whether regulate entertainment or not) of a clearly adult or sexual nature, there should be a strong presumption against permitting any access at all for children under 18 years. Applicants wishing to allow access for children to premises where these associations may be relevant, when preparing operating schedules or club operating schedules or variations of those schedules for the purposes of obtaining or varying a premises licence or club premises certificate should:
 - Explain their reasons; and
 - Outline in detail the steps that they intend to take to protect children from harm on such premises.
- For any premises, not serving alcohol for consumption on the premises, but where the public are allowed on the premises after 10.00 pm in the evening, there should be a presumption against the presence of children unaccompanied by adults under the age of 12 after that time. Applicants wishing to allow access when preparing operation schedules or variations of those schedules or club

operating schedules for the purposes of obtaining or varying a premises licence or club premises certificate should:

- Explain their reasons; and
- Outline in detail the steps that they intend to take to protect children from harm on such premises.

In any other case, subject to the premises licence holder's or club's discretion, the expectation would be for unrestricted access for children of any age to premises. An operating schedule or club operating schedule should indicate any decision for the premises to exclude children completely, which would mean there was no need to include in the schedule steps the applicant proposes to take to promote the protection of children from harm.

Age Restrictions - specific

Under the 2003 Act a wide variety of licensable activities could take place at various types of premises and at different times of the day and night. Whilst it may be appropriate to allow children unrestricted access at particular times and when certain activities are not taking place licensing authorities following relevant representations are made by responsible authorities and interested parties will need to consider a range of conditions that are to be tailored to the particular premises and their activities where these are necessary. Licensing authorities are expected to consider:

- The times of day during when age restrictions should and should not apply. For example, the fact that adult entertainment may be presented at premises after 20:00 hrs does not mean that it would be necessary to impose age restrictions for earlier parts of the day.
- Types of event or activity in respect of which no age restrictions may be needed, for example;
 - Family entertainment; or
 - Non-alcoholic events for young age groups such as under 18s dances,

Similarly, types of event or activity which give rise to a more acute need for age restrictions than normal, for example;

- During "Happy Hours" or on drinks promotion nights;
- During activities outlined above.
- Gambling such as poker.

Age restrictions - cinemas

The Secretary of State considers that, in addition to the mandatory condition imposed by virtue of Part 20, requiring the admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance with recommendations given either by a body designated under Part 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 or by the Council itself, conditions restricting the admission of children to film exhibitions should include:

 A condition that where the Council itself is to make recommendations on the admission of children to films, the cinema or venue operator must submit any film to the authority that it intends to exhibit 28 days before it is proposed to show it. This is to allow the authority time to classify it so that the premises licence holder is able to adhere to any age restrictions then imposed.

- A condition that when films are classified, by either the film classification body as specified in the licence or the Council, they should be classified in the following way:
 - U Universal suitable for audiences aged four years and over.
 - PG Parental Guidance. Some scenes may be unsuitable for young children.
 - 12 Passed only for viewing by persons aged 12 years or older.
 - 12A Passed only for viewing by persons aged 12 years or older or persons younger than 12 when accompanied by an adult.
 - 15 Passed only for viewing by persons aged 15 years and over.
 - 18 Passed only for viewing by persons aged 18 years and over.
- That conditions specify that immediately before each exhibition at the premises of a film passed by the British Board of Film Classification there shall be exhibited on screen for at least five seconds in such a manner as to be easily read by all persons in the auditorium a reproduction of the certificate of the Board or, as regards a trailer advertising a film, of the statement approved by the Board indicating the classification of the film.
- A condition that when a Council has made a recommendation on the restriction
 of admission of children to a film, notices are required to be displayed both
 inside and outside the premises so that persons entering can readily be made
 aware of the classification attached to any film or trailer. Such a condition might
 be expressed in the following terms:

"Where a programme includes a film recommended by the Council as falling into the 12, 12A, 15 or 18 category no person appearing to be under the age of 12, under 12 and unaccompanied, 15 or 18 as appropriate shall be admitted to any part of the programme; and the licence holder shall display in a conspicuous position at each entrance to the premises a notice in the following terms -

PERSONS UNDER THE AGE OF [INSERT APPROPRIATE AGE] CANNOT BE ADMITTED TO ANY PART OF THE PROGRAMME

Where films of different categories form part of the same programme, the notice shall refer to the oldest age restriction.

This condition does not apply to members of staff under the relevant age provided that the prior written consent of the person's parents or legal guardian has first been obtained.

Theatres

The admission of children to theatres, as with other licensed premises, is not normally expected to be restricted unless it is necessary to promote the licensing objective of the protection of children from harm. However, theatres may be the venue for a wide range of activities. The admission of children to the performance of a play is expected to normally be left to the discretion of the licence holder and no condition restricting c210222 – Licensing Policy 2021

the access of children to plays should be attached. However, theatres may also present entertainment including, for example, variety shows, incorporating adult entertainment including, for example, variety shows, incorporating adult entertainment. A condition restricting the admission of children in such circumstances may be necessary. Entertainment may also be presented at theatres specifically for children (see below).

A condition should be attached to a premises licence which requires the presence of a sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure the well-being of children present on the premises during any emergency.

Performances especially for children

Where performances are presented especially for children in theatres and cinemas conditions are anticipated to be needed which require:

An attendant to be stationed in the area(s) occupied by the children, in the vicinity
of each exit, provided that on each level occupied by children the minimum
number of attendants on duty should be one attendant per 50 children or part
thereof.

Whether or not standing should be allowed. For example, there may be reduced risk for children in the stalls than at other levels or areas in the building.

Children in performances

There are many productions each year that are one-off shows where the cast is made up almost entirely of children. They may be taking part as individuals or as part of a drama club, stage school or school group. The age of those involved may range from 5 to 18. The Children (Performances) Regulations 1968 as amended set out requirements for children performing in a show. However, if it is necessary to consider imposing conditions for the promotion of the protection of children from harm then the Council will consider the matters outlined below:

- **Venue** the backstage facilities should be large enough to accommodate safely the number of children taking part in any performance.
- Fire safety all chaperones and production crew on the show should receive instruction on the fire procedures applicable to the venue prior to the arrival of the children.
- **Special effects** it may be inappropriate to use certain special effects, including smoke, dry ice, rapid pulsating or flashing lights, which may trigger adverse reactions especially with regard to children.
- Care of children theatres, concerts halls and similar places are places of work and may contain a lot of potentially dangerous equipment. It is therefore important that children performing at such premises are kept under adult supervision at all times including transfer from stage to dressing room and anywhere else on the premises. It is also important that the children can be accounted for at all times in case of an evacuation or emergency.

Gambling

The Gambling Act 2005 allows category C & D gaming machines to be installed in certain licensed premises.

The Gambling Commission has published a code of practice controlling the use of gaming machines. The Act also allows the playing of poker (for maximum stakes) provided children are not on the premises.

Regulations have been made limiting the amount of stakes playable in pub poker which strive to ensure the amounts involved are minimal.

Rother D.C. Policy D1 (Protection of Children)

Topless waiters/waitress, striptease and table-dancing

Where the activities proposed under the licence include those of a sex related nature (e.g. topless waiters/waitresses, striptease, table dancing etc) the Council will take into account the increased risk to the licensing objectives. For the sake of convenience the term "striptease" in this part of the policy should be taken to refer to any entertainment or service involving exposure of private parts or the sexual stimulation of patrons.

Where such entertainment is provided the operating schedule must include conditions designed to ensure that children are not admitted to and cannot witness these activities and to prevent crime and disorder problems. For example:

The area proposed for striptease shall:

- (a) be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the street;
- (b) be in a designated area of the premises with segregation from the audience;
- (c) be in a position where the performers will have direct access to the dressing room without passing through or in close proximity to the audience.

Whilst striptease entertainment is taking place no person under the age of 18 shall be on the licensed *premises* and a clear notice shall be displayed at each entrance to the premises in a prominent position, so that it can be easily read by persons entering the premises, in the following terms:

NO PERSON UNDER 18 WILL BE ADMITTED

To prevent the possibility of children seeing unsuitable advertisement the policy of the Council will be to attach a condition to the effect that "Except with the consent of the Council there shall be no external advertising of the striptease entertainment either at the premises or in its immediate vicinity."

Reason

These policies are designed to further the licensing objective of protecting children by preventing them being exposed to unsuitable material or acts. They are also designed to further the crime prevention and prevention of nuisance objectives by recognising the increased risk of nuisance or illegal activities such as performers offering "extras" to customers or the plying for trade by prostitutes.

Rother D.C. Policy D2 (Protection of Children)

Additional controls for certain premises

The Council will take strong measures to protect children from harm. Examples of premises where the introduction of additional controls are likely to be necessary are:

- Where there have been convictions for serving alcohol to a minor or with a reputation for under-age drinking.
- With a known association with drug taking or dealing.
- Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises.
- Where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is provided.
- Playing of poker.
- Failure to comply with the Gambling Commission code of practice on gambling machines in licensed premises.

In such circumstances while it may sometimes be necessary to impose a complete prohibition this would be only rarely imposed. The Council would normally require:

- Limitations on the hours when children may be present.
- Age limitations below 18.
- Limitations or exclusions from the whole or designated parts when certain
- activities are taking place.

Requirements for accompanying adults

 Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are taking place.

Where there is provision of entertainment specifically for children (e.g. a children's disco) the Council will require the presence of sufficient adults to control the access and egress of the children and assure their safety.

Reason

These policies are designed to allow flexibility for the licensee, to ensure that where appropriate licensed premises are "user friendly" for children but to ensure they are adequately protected.

Rother D.C. Policy D3 (Protection of Children)

Children & Cinemas

The Council expects licensees to include in their operating schedule arrangements for restricting children from viewing age restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification.

Where the exhibition of films is permitted the authority will expect the age restrictions of the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) in respect of the films to be exhibited to be complied with. Only in exceptional cases will variations of this general rule be granted by the Council and then only with appropriate safeguards.

In relation to specialist Film Festivals where it is desired to show films not classified by the BBFC the Council will, provided adequate notice has been given, classify the films concerned. To achieve consistency and the protection of children the Council will use the guidelines published by the BBFC.

Reason

To prevent children from viewing unsuitable films.

Rother D.C. Policy D4 (Protection of Children)

Children and Regulated Entertainment

It is expected that adult staff will be at places of public entertainment to control the access and egress of children and to protect them from harm. This requirement also applies to children present at an event as performers, in which case, for every ten children there must be one supervising adult present at all times.

Licences Fees / Regulated Entertainment/ Late Night Refreshments

Licence Fees

The Licensing Authority is required to suspend a premises licence or club premises certificate if the annual fee is not paid when it is due. The licence will only be reinstated when the outstanding fee is paid. In the case of a licence or certificate where more than one payment year has been missed payment of the outstanding fee in relation to each year will be required to reinstate the licence.

Regulated Entertainment

Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act sets out what activities are regarded as the provision of regulated entertainment and when they are licensable and these activities which are not and therefore exempt from the regulated entertainment regime. Changes in regulated entertainment came into effect on the 6th of April 2015. As a result of deregulation there have been a range of amendments to the 2003 Act which means there are circumstances where a licence is no longer required. The details of changes are set out in the Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014 and in Home Office revised guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 – March 2015 (Chapter 15). Interested parties can find information within these documents on the changes introduced.

There have been a significant number of relaxations in requirements and it is therefore recommended that applicants or licence holders do consult the guidance to ascertain if a licence is still required.

Late Night Refreshments

New comprehensive guidance on the licensing late night refreshment was published on the 1st of October 2015 this explains proposed changes and sets out how licensing authorities can apply exemptions. The new guidance is non-statutory but will be incorporated into the main statutory guidance issued under section 182 as part of the next update.

The changes, inserted by section 71 of the Deregulation Act 2015, came into effect on the 1st of October but will not be available for use in full until regulations prescribing specific types of premises which can be exempted come into force. Subject to Parliamentary scrutiny, the regulations are due to come into force in early November.

The link to the late night refreshment guidance is below:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-the-licensing-of-late-night-refreshment

Safety Advisory Groups

1. Introduction

An event organiser has a duty to plan, manage and monitor the event to make sure that employees and the visiting public are not exposed to health and safety risks.

2. Safety Advisory Groups (SAGs)

SAGs are usually co-ordinated by a local authority (LA) and made up of representatives from the LA, emergency services and other relevant bodies. They meet at regular intervals, or when necessary, before the event, to review event applications and advise on public safety.

SAGs do not have legal powers or responsibilities and are not empowered to approve or prohibit events from taking place. They provide independent advice to event organisers, who retain the legal responsibility for ensuring a safe event. (Individual representatives of organisations forming the SAG may have powers to require event organisers to comply with their legal obligations.)

The Safety Advisory Group will operate in accordance with agreed terms of reference and keep a record of the advice given and actions to be taken. The decision to hold a Safety Advisory Group for any specific event will not be taken purely on the number of people expected to attend, although large numbers will be a contributory factor. Once a proposed event is known about, members of the Safety Advisory Group will liaise with the organisers to identify the associated risks for those attending and likely impact on the wider community.

The SAG will advise the event organiser of the outcome of their assessment of their event management plan. If any relevant subject has not been considered, e.g. fire or health and safety, it should be made clear to the organiser at the same time. When SAGs consider applications where LAs have responsibilities, e.g. as an organiser / coorganiser or landowner, the SAG should make the relevant LA department aware of any concerns so that they can act accordingly.

It is the event organiser's responsibility to take any appropriate action. If the LA is the event organiser or co-organiser or has legal responsibilities by virtue of its control of premises / land, it cannot rely on the SAG process to discharge its legal responsibilities. Those legal responsibilities should be discharged separately.

An EMP exists to control the hazards associated with an event, it is not an emergency plan, although an emergency may occur as a result of an event taking place.

3. The standing members of the SAG will be:

- Representative of Environmental Health and Licensing Service (Chair)
- Representatives of South East Ambulance Service NHS Trust (SECAMB), ESFRS and Police

The event organiser should submit to the Service Manager Environmental Health and Licensing an Event Management Plan, normally 6 months before a major event. The

c210222 - Licensing Policy 2021

plan will be circulated to the standing members and if questions are raised a meeting will be held 3 months before a major event. The aim is to get the EMP to an acceptable standard before the meeting.

4. Terms of reference

To ensure as far as possible that the risk to public safety is minimised for all those attending or working at an event by providing advice to the event organiser, who has the responsibility for the safety of the event.

To provide a forum within which the Local Authority and other agencies may develop a coordinated approach to spectator/visitor/crowd safety and other event safety matters

To provide a forum through which the event proposals and supporting documentation can be communicated between partner agencies in order for an accurate assessment to be made as to whether a Safety Advisory Group is required for that event.

To ensure that each member of the group is aware of their individual role within the group and at the event.

To advise the event organiser of the relevant legislative requirements.

To provide advice to the event organiser, that any inconvenience to local residents, businesses and the general public is minimised.

To make recommendations and give advice/guidance to the organisers on the Event Management Plan.

To make recommendations and give advice/guidance to the organisers on the contingency plans or arrangements for dealing with emergency situations at the event.

To reasonably satisfy themselves that Organisers of events are fully aware of their responsibilities in relation to Health and Safety and Duty of Care requirements when organising an event.

To keep a record of all meetings whether formal or preliminary, to clearly note recommendations agreed by the advisory group and note actions arising from those meetings.

To receive reports in relation to matters found during any monitoring visits by group memebers.

To receive notification of the issue of any prohibition notice and any prosecutions.

To hold an annual review and debrief of the Safety Advisory Group Process and make recommendations as necessary.

To hold a debrief after major events and make recommendations as necessary arising form the experience of that event.

To share lessons learned from joint experiences of events and any emergency situations.

To encourage event organisers to devise and facilitate desk top exercises, to participate in such exercises and to facilitate learning from those exercises.

The Safety Advisory Group as such cannot take any decisions on behalf of the Emergency Services and the Local Authority.